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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

_________________________________________ 

) 

SARAH WALKER,     ) 

20 E. 40th Street     ) 

Minneapolis, MN 55409    ) Case No.: 1:22-cv-03312-APM 

) Judge:  

Plaintiff,     ) 

) 

  v.     ) COMPLAINT FOR 

) DECLARATORY, INJUNCTIVE, 

NEW VENTURE FUND    ) AND MONETARY RELIEF 

1828 L Street, NW, Suite 300   ) 

Washington, DC 20036    ) 

) JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

SECURE DEMOCRACY    ) 

611 Pennsylvania Ave SE, #143   ) 

Washington, DC 20003    ) 

       ) 

MEGAN LEWIS     ) 

57 Clinton Road     ) 

Glen Ridge, NJ 07028    ) 

       ) 

and       ) 

       ) 

SD USA      ) 

611 Pennsylvania Ave SE, #143   ) 

Washington, DC 20003    ) 

       ) 

Defendants.    ) 

_________________________________________ ) 

 

 

AMENDED COMPLAINT 

 

On October 28, 2021, at 6:06 p.m., Plaintiff Sarah Walker (“Ms. Walker”), the executive 

director of Secure Democracy (“SD”), sent an email to Andrew Schultz, the general counsel of 

New Venture Fund (“NVF”), alerting him to her growing “concerns related to accounting controls 

and procedures, conflicts of interest, EEO and legal compliance.” SD, NVF, and a third entity, 
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Voting Rights Lab (“VRL”) are affiliated entities. And all SD and VRL employees are also 

employees of NVF.  

Ms. Walker first raised her concerns to NVF several weeks earlier but was ignored. 

Consequently, she was compelled to identify in her email to Mr. Schultz that her concerns were 

being submitted “pursuant to” NVF’s whistleblower policy. In direct violation of that 

whistleblower policy, Ms. Walker’s email (the “Whistleblower email”) triggered a retaliatory 

reaction. The next day, October 29, 2021, NVF placed Ms. Walker on administrative leave and 

revoked her permission to continue representing SD or NVF’s VRL “in any capacity or to perform 

any work associated with either entity.” NVF represented that an investigation into the claims 

made in her Whistleblower email would be conducted.    

The Whistleblower email was prompted by Ms. Walker’s discovery that NVF was using 

its tax-deductible donations in violation of the internal revenue laws in several ways. First, tax-

deductible donations received by NVF were used to pay the wages of employees who performed 

work for SD. Other operating costs of SD were also subsidized using NVF’s tax-deductible 

donations, such as SD employee travel, SD office equipment, and SD vendors. As Ms. Walker has 

since learned, this is common practice at NVF, which shares funding with other 501(c)(4)s, 

through its affiliation with Arabella Advisors. Second, NVF and SD engaged in prohibited partisan 

political activity. Third, NVF resources were used to secure a donation for the political campaign 

of Brad Raffensperger, an action that is strictly prohibited by the Internal Revenue Code. 

Several weeks after the Whistleblower email, NVF abruptly dissolved SD and terminated 

its employees—but immediately replaced SD with an entity named “SD USA” (a Defendant 

herein) at the same address. All SD employees were rehired by SD USA except Ms. Walker who 

was not hired nor asked to apply for her former Executive Director position. As a “shared 
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employee” of NVF and SD (i.e., each entity was paying half her salary) this caused her to lose 

one-half of her salary beginning in January 2022. Although Ms. Walker remained employed by 

NVF, NVF kept her on administrative leave and then ultimately discharged her in October 2022. 

In addition to being prohibited by state statute, the retaliation against Ms. Walker is expressly 

prohibited under the Taxpayer First Act (the “TFA”). The Department of Labor has recently 

affirmed Ms. Walker’s ability under the TFA’s Kickout Provision to pursue her claim(s) in federal 

district court for the retaliation against her. 

This is a civil action for declaratory, injunctive, and monetary relief for injuries Plaintiff 

Sarah Walker sustained as a result of the hostile work environment and her discriminatory and 

retaliatory termination from New Venture Fund and SD USA on the basis of her race, color, sex, 

disability, and protected activity in violation of the District of Columbia Human Rights Act 

(“DCHRA”), D.C. Code § 2-1402.11, et seq., and the TFA, 26 U.S.C. § 7623(d).  Ms. Walker also 

brings a common law claim of intentional infliction of emotional distress. 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. NVF is exempt from taxation as a public charity under section 501(c)(3) of the 

Internal Revenue Code. NVF acts as a fiscal sponsor for public-interest projects and grant-making 

programs that either have not yet received 501(c)(3) tax exemption from the Internal Revenue 

Service (“IRS”) or do not plan to receive it. 

2. NVF is one of the largest and most well-funded public interest nonprofits in the 

country. NVF is part of a network of 501(c)(3) and 501(c)(4) tax exempt organizations affiliated 

with Arabella Advisors, a for-profit consulting firm that provides compliance, human resources, 

and other administrative services to the nonprofits and the projects that comprise them. The 

projects and programs of NVF tend to be politically left-leaning and affiliated with the Democratic 
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Party. In 2020 alone, NVF disbursed nearly $500 million to address progressive issues such as 

racial justice. 

3. VRL was one such project. VRL was co-founded in 2018 by Megan Lewis and 

Samantha Tarazi, who are President and Vice President, respectively, of the organization. Both are 

white females. VRL works at the state level to support progressive electoral policy changes. On 

February 19, 2020, Voting Rights Lab became a fiscally-sponsored project of New Venture Fund 

and was among the many registered trade names for NVF. 

4. SD and its successor SD USA are exempt from taxation as social advocacy 

organizations under section 501(c)(4) of the Internal Revenue Code. SD lobbies in state 

legislatures to protect secure and fair elections. 

5. SD was established in 2018 at the direction of Megan Lewis in order to work with 

Republicans on voting rights issues and to maintain a distance from the Democratic Party-affiliated 

work of VRL. SD and VRL have always been affiliated entities, working closely together. The 

chair of the board of SD is Heather Smith, a white female. 

6. When VRL became a fiscally-sponsored project of NVF, SD also became affiliated 

with NVF. All employees of VRL and SD became employees of NVF at that time. This included 

Sarah Walker. 

7. Sarah Walker is an African American woman with lupus, a physical disability with 

symptoms triggered by stress. She began working for VRL and SD in September 2019 as an 

Associate Director, and rose in the ranks to become Vice President of Advocacy at VRL and 

Executive Director at SD, one of few Black women to hold a VP role for an extended period. 

8. NVF has made a very public commitment to Race Equity, Equity, Diversity, and 

Inclusion in its “Mission and Values” statement: “We envision a more equitable world, built on 
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fair treatment, access, opportunity, and advancement for all. As changemakers building the most 

effective charitable projects, we know that advancing race equity, equity, diversity and inclusion 

(REDI) is essential to solving our world’s most pressing problems. As such, we dedicate ourselves 

to integrating REDI into our work and our culture. As we learn more, we will do more — ours is 

a continuous journey of learning, growth, and innovation.”1 

9. In contrast to its public messaging, the experience for NVF employees of color was 

very different. The progressive public image of NVF did not translate to a progressive work 

environment. Ms. Walker faced discrimination during the entirety of her employment, and called 

out the workplace injustices experienced by her and others. NVF’s public messaging deceived the 

public into providing financial support based on a material misrepresentation about the values in 

place at NVF and the practices it followed as a nonprofit entity.  

10. Due to her position, Ms. Walker discovered that NVF and SD were discriminating 

against numerous employees, particularly female employees of color, by paying them less than 

their white counterparts, denying them equal opportunity for advancement, and denying them 

equal access to benefits, among other forms of discrimination. In addition, Ms. Walker discovered 

that NVF and SD were engaged in numerous violations of the Internal Revenue Code, jeopardizing 

their tax exempt status. The Defendants’ pattern of employment discrimination and intentional tax 

violations indicate that NVF and SD are simply unconcerned about following the law.  

11. When Ms. Walker spoke up about NVF’s and SD’s workplace injustices and non-

compliant tax practices, NVF and SD swiftly retaliated against her. In addition to furthering a 

hostile work environment that severely compromised Ms. Walker’s ability to perform her duties 

for NVF and SD, NVF and SD terminated her in such a way so as to severely damage her reputation 

 
1 https://newventurefund.org/who-we-are/mission-and-values/ (last visited Oct. 25, 2022). 
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and inflict severe emotional distress which exacerbated her disability, negatively impacting her 

physical and mental health. Unsurprisingly, in seeming acknowledgement of the irreparable level 

of unlawful tax practices of the kind Ms. Walker alleged in her Whistleblower email, SD (the 

501(c)(4) entity), was dissolved less than two months after she reported the improper federal tax 

practices and a new similarly named entity, SD USA, sprouted up in its same place: 611 

Pennsylvania Ave SE, #143. 

12. This case involves a plethora of race-, sex-, and disability-based workforce 

discrimination encompassing benefit eligibility and potential ERISA violations, failure to 

accommodate a disability, and retaliation for opposing these practices and for whistleblowing 

about potential tax fraud. Defendants engaged in numerous acts of retaliation to silence Ms. 

Walker from exposing the flagrant financial irregularities and hypocrisy of NVF and SD. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

13. The Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action because it presents a 

federal question under 26 U.S. Code § 7623. 

14. The Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S. Code 

§ 1332 because the amount in controversy exceeds $75,000 and the action is between citizens of 

different states. 

15. The Court has supplemental jurisdiction over this action under the DCHRA, D.C. 

Code § 2-1402.11 et seq. 

16. The Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants New Venture Fund, Secure 

Democracy, and SD USA because each has or had its principal place of business in the District of 

Columbia for the purposes of Fed. R. Civ. P. 4, and is or was an employer within the definition of 

D.C. Code § 2-1401.02(10). 
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17. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant Megan Lewis because she is 

an employer within the definition of D.C. Code § 2-1401.02(10) and has the actual or perceived 

right to hire or terminate Plaintiff.   

18. The Court is a proper venue under 28 U.S. Code § 1391 because the discriminatory 

decisions to place Plaintiff on leave and to terminate Plaintiff’s employment were made in the 

District of Columbia. 

PARTIES 

19. Plaintiff Sarah Walker is a citizen of the State of Minnesota. She is an African-

American female with a disability within the meaning of the Americans with Disabilities Act and 

the DCHRA. During the relevant time, Ms. Walker was employed as that term is used in the 

DCHRA for both New Venture Fund and Secure Democracy. 

20. Defendant NVF is a District of Columbia nonprofit corporation with its principal 

place of business at 1828 L Street, NW, Suite 300, Washington, DC 20036. VRL is or was one of 

many fiscally-sponsored projects of NVF and is among the many registered trade names for NVF. 

All VRL employees were NVF employees for the relevant timeframe. The NVF general counsel 

and other NVF non-project employees are located in the District of Columbia. 

21. Defendant SD was a District of Columbia nonprofit corporation with its principal 

place of business at 611 Pennsylvania Ave SE, #143, Washington, DC 20003. It was dissolved on 

or around December 20, 2021. Defendants SD USA and NVF entered into an agreement with SD 

to acquire SD’s assets and liabilities on or around November 30, 2021. 

22. Defendant SD USA is a District of Columbia nonprofit corporation with its 

principal place of business at 611 Pennsylvania Ave SE, #143, Washington, DC 20003. It was 
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incorporated on November 17, 2021 by Megan Lewis, who is also listed as the executing officer 

of the organization. 

23. Defendant Megan Lewis is a co-founder and President of Voting Rights Lab. 

Defendant Lewis is a white female resident of the State of New Jersey. Ms. Lewis is also an 

attorney. Ms. Lewis made the decision to hire Ms. Walker and the decision to place Ms. Walker 

on administrative leave. Ms. Lewis indirectly supervised Ms. Walker starting in September 2019 

and then directly supervised Ms. Walker starting in June 2020. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

A. Defendants Paid Minority Female Employees Less 

24. All employees of VRL, SD, and SD USA are hired by VRL. At all times during 

Ms. Walker’s employment, SD did not advertise available positions. Instead, all job postings were 

advertised as VRL positions. Employees are then paid either as full-time VRL/NVF employees, 

or as shared employees between NVF and SD, with their salaries paid 50% by each organization 

regardless of whether the vast majority of their time is spent working for SD.  

25. VRL co-founders Megan Lewis and Sam Tarazi are both white females. Ms. Lewis 

and Ms. Tarazi made most or all hiring decisions for VRL and SD. 

26. Sarah Walker was hired at SD and VRL on September 26, 2019. At the time of her 

hire, she had over 20 years of management, government affairs, and public relations experience. 

Ms. Walker has master’s degrees in both political science and sociology and has completed all but 

her dissertation in both fields for her PhD. Her graduate studies focused on voting rights 

restoration, and it has been the defining focus of her career. She was initially interviewed by Ms. 

Lewis and when making her a job offer, Ms. Tarazi told her that she was over-qualified for her 

initial position as Associate Director. Indeed, Ms. Walker’s education and experience were greater 
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than that of her initial direct supervisor, Colin Weaver. Ms. Lewis and Ms. Tarazi both indirectly 

supervised Ms. Walker when she was hired. 

27. At the time of her hire, Ms. Walker was paid $110,000 per year, with half of her 

salary coming from SD and half from NVF. At the time of her hire, Ms. Walker was told that her 

pay was above the salary scale for her position and was non-negotiable. 

28. Colin Weaver, a white male, was Director of State Government Affairs and was 

Ms. Walker’s direct supervisor at the time of her hiring. As of June 30, 2020, Mr. Weaver was 

paid $175,000 per year, with half of his salary coming from SD and half from NVF. 

29. On or around February 19, 2020, VRL became a fiscally-sponsored project of NVF. 

All VRL and SD employees were hired by NVF at this time. Some employees became full-time 

NVF employees and some employees, like Ms. Walker, were part-time NVF employees, with their 

salary split evenly between NVF and SD. 

30. In late March 2020, Ms. Walker was assigned additional responsibilities for a 

period that would exceed three months. These responsibilities included management of the State 

Affairs division staff as Acting Director of State and Federal Advocacy. More responsibilities were 

assigned in April and May 2020, including filling in for Mr. Weaver while he would be on paternity 

leave starting in June 2020. These new assigned responsibilities were in addition to her existing 

workload and responsibilities. While Mr. Weaver was on leave, Ms. Walker reported directly to 

Ms. Lewis and to Ms. Tarazi. 

31. In late March 2020, Soncia Coleman, an African-American female, was also 

assigned additional work, including supervisory responsibilities, for a period exceeding three 

months, as Acting Director of Law and Policy, with no compensation change at the time of 
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reassignment. She had education and experience greater than did Liz Avore, the white female 

director whose work she was assigned. 

32. Ms. Lewis told Ms. Walker on or around June 4, 2020 that it was NVF policy that 

employees could be reassigned to a different role for three months with no change in compensation, 

and that her compensation and role would be reexamined after ten weeks in the reassigned role. 

At the same time, Ms. Lewis told Ms. Walker that the reassignment would last through Mr. 

Weaver’s paternity leave, and at least the election, early November 2020. That this period of time 

would be at least seven months was known at the time she was reassigned to a different role. 

33. Luis Rodriguez, a Hispanic male, was hired in early May 2020 as Associate 

Director of State Government Affairs. At the time of his hire and through at least June 30, 2020, 

Mr. Rodriguez was paid $115,000 per year, with half of his salary coming from SD and half from 

NVF. Mr. Rodriguez had fewer years of experience and less education than Ms. Walker and 

reported directly to Ms. Walker. 

34. Sarah Jane Higginbotham, a white female, was hired in early May 2020 as 

Associate Director of State Government Affairs. At the time of her hire and through at least June 

30, 2020, Ms. Higginbotham was paid $132,000 per year, with half of her salary coming from SD 

and half from NVF. Ms. Higginbotham had fewer years of experience and less education than Ms. 

Walker and reported directly to Ms. Walker. 

35. Ms. Walker was not given salary information or told the reasons for hiring Mr. 

Rodriguez or Ms. Higginbotham. The hiring of both individuals deviated from the standard hiring 

processes used for other SD and VRL employees. 

36. On or around June 24, 2020, Ms. Walker was sent the SD payroll by mistake. This 

enabled her to learn that Mr. Rodriguez and Ms. Higginbotham were both being paid more than 
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her, although they reported to her. She was told by Ms. Lewis and Ms. Tarazi that Mr. Rodriguez 

had negotiated for more money, despite Ms. Walker being told at the time of her hiring that she 

could not negotiate for a higher salary. 

37. On or around June 25, 2020, Ms. Tarazi told Ms. Walker that NVF equally weighed 

experience and education in its hiring and promotion decisions. 

38. On or around the end of August 2020, Christian LoBue, Chief of Staff of VRL and 

an African American female, was sent the VRL payroll by mistake. Ms. LoBue identified that she 

was paid less than Ms. Tarazi despite having more experience, more responsibilities, and a more 

senior role. She also identified that, unlike Ms. Tarazi, she did not have access to VRL payroll 

information, despite her title as VRL Chief of Staff. Ms. LoBue left VRL a few months later. 

B. Defendants Denied Minority Employees Equal Access to Resources 

39. As part of a restructure on or around December 1, 2020, Ms. Walker was promoted 

to Vice President of Advocacy at Voting Rights Lab and Executive Director of Secure Democracy. 

Ms. Walker was responsible for VRL’s policy change advocacy at the federal, state, and local 

levels. She was the head of the Advocacy Department, which includes regional, campaign, 

program, engagement, and administrative staff. 

40. When Ms. Walker was given the title Executive Director of SD, Ms. Lewis 

informed her that the title was for public facing interactions only, and that she would continue to 

be supervised by Ms. Lewis, not the board of SD. At no time did Ms. Walker report directly to the 

SD board while serving as SD’s Executive Director. At the time of her promotion to Vice 

President, all other Vice Presidents were white. Unlike these other Vice Presidents, Ms. Walker 

had little insight into the organization’s budget and was not allowed access to salary negotiations 

or individualized payroll information for SD staff. Her role was limited to approving all SD 
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invoices and to representing SD publicly. The white Vice Presidents were given payroll 

information and were involved in salary negotiations. Although Ms. Walker knew which 

employees had SD emails and the amount of time they devoted to SD tasks and projects, whether 

an individual was only on NVF’s payroll or paid as a “shared” employee by both entities, was not 

information she learned until much later. 

41. Whether an employee is a full-time NVF employee or a part-time NVF employee 

was entirely disconnected from where they actually performed most of their work. Many 

employees entirely paid by NVF performed most of their work for SD. Defendants never explained 

the business reasons for these employee classifications or why NVF, a 501(c)(3) entity which could 

receive tax-deductible donations, would allow so many of its employees to perform the majority 

of their work for SD. Because SD was a 501(c)(4) entity, this practice had the effect of unlawfully 

subsidizing SD’s operations with tax-deductible donations. 

42. Most employees of color were made to work for SD, regardless of whether they 

were classified as full-time VRL/NVF employees. Although told in interviews that they would 

work with progressive Democratic-aligned groups, once they were hired, most employees of color 

found out that they would work for SD, which primarily involved partnering with Republicans. 

This isolated people of color from the progressive nonprofits and donors with whom they had 

expected to work, and with whom they had sought to gain important professional networks. This 

impacted the terms and conditions of their employment because it limited their professional 

opportunities compared to their white colleagues, and in response, most employees of color left 

VRL and SD within short periods of time. 
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43. When employees of color were allowed to interact with progressive donors or 

partners, it was because Ms. Lewis believed that the presence of employees of color would lend 

“credibility” to the work of VRL, thus reducing the value of minority employees to their skin color. 

C. Defendants Denied Minority Employees Equal Access to Benefits 

 

44. When VRL became a fiscally sponsored project of NVF, all VRL and SD 

employees were told that in addition to healthcare benefits, they would be eligible for short-term 

disability insurance, long-term disability insurance, and life insurance. Ms. Walker learned in 

September 2021 that SD employees, including herself, were not eligible for disability and life 

insurance benefits. It is unknown when Ms. Lewis and Ms. Tarazi knew of this difference in 

eligibility, but they told Ms. Walker that they were not going to inform employees of the 

discrepancy. Starting in at least September 2021, Ms. Lewis and Ms. Tarazi and other VRL 

employees made knowingly false statements regarding benefit eligibility for SD employees in job 

postings and conversations with applicants. They told employees of the discrepancy only when 

Ms. Walker insisted upon it. 

45. On or around October 20, 2021, Amanda Harrington, a white female in the process 

of being hired by SD, learned that as an SD employee, she would be ineligible for disability and 

life insurance benefits. Megan DeSmedt, Human Resources (“HR”) Director at VRL and a white 

female, informed Ms. Harrington that instead of being hired by SD, Ms. Harrington could be a 

full-time NVF employee explicitly so that she could access disability and life insurance benefits 

(Exhibit 1). 

46. Two employees of color also hired in or around October 2021—Nina Patel, 

Associate Director of Law and Policy and an Indian American female, and Carson Malbrough, 

Campaign Associate and an African American male—were classified as SD employees. They were 
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not given the same option as was Ms. Harrington to be misclassified as full-time NVF employees. 

All three employees performed the vast majority of their work for SD and should have been paid 

by SD instead of being characterized as a “shared” employee with NVF paying 50% or more of 

their salary. 

D. Defendants Discriminated Against Plaintiff Because of Her Disability 

47. Ms. Walker has a diagnosis of lupus, an auto-immune disease in which periods of 

stress can cause flareups of symptoms. Ms. Walker also has pericarditis, arthritis and neuropathy 

in the hands related to her lupus. All of these conditions are disabilities within the meaning of the 

DCHRA and the Americans with Disabilities Act. Ms. Walker received treatment for these chronic 

conditions for the duration of her employment with NVF and SD. 

48. Ms. Walker’s diagnosis and details of her ongoing medical treatment were known 

to Defendant SD and Ms. Lewis, Ms. Tarazi, and several VRL employees through consulting work 

Ms. Walker had performed prior to being hired. Additionally, employees at SD shared public 

calendars to which VRL leadership had access. All of Ms. Walker’s medical appointments for 

treating her lupus were on her public calendar. These appointments occurred approximately once 

per month, and included blood work, infusions, and regular doctor visits. Ms. Walker often took 

video conference calls from her lupus infusion chair. 

49. Defendant NVF learned of Ms. Walker’s lupus diagnosis and treatment when or 

shortly after she was hired by NVF, as their health insurance carrier’s approval process of her 

infusion treatments took over a month, during which time accommodations had to be made for 

Ms. Walker to continue on her previous insurance so that her treatments would not stop. 

50. In ongoing conversations during the summer of 2021, Ms. Walker informed Ms. 

Lewis that her workload was negatively impacting her health due to her disability and asked about 
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working part-time. In September 2021, Ms. Walker asked Ms. Lewis and Ms. DeSmedt of HR 

about the organization’s policy regarding the availability of utilizing her disability benefits or 

working part-time. This conversation occurred prior to Ms. Walker learning that she in fact did not 

have disability benefits. 

51. In contrast, Ms. Tarazi, a similarly situated white woman, worked a modified 

schedule in 2021. Like Ms. Walker, Ms. Tarazi was a director who supervised people in 2020 and 

was promoted to Vice President on or around December 1, 2020. Unlike Ms. Walker, Ms. Tarazi 

was able to change to a limited, part-time schedule in 2021. Ms. Walker was not privy to the 

disability suffered by Ms. Tarazi, and did not question whether her accommodation was justified. 

In September 2021, Ms. Walker pointed out to Ms. Lewis that if the organization allowed Ms. 

Tarazi to work a part-time schedule and reduce her workload while keeping her title, all employees 

should be able to do this. 

52. In response to Ms. Walker’s request for a reasonable accommodation, Defendants 

did not engage in the DCHRA’s interactive process to determine what accommodation would be 

appropriate. Instead, Ms. Lewis suggested that VRL and SD would have to reduce the scope of 

their work to accommodate Ms. Walker’s disability. Ms. Lewis assumed that providing an 

accommodation for Ms. Walker would be an undue hardship for the business, and thus no 

accommodation was even proposed, much less provided. 

53. Furthermore, VRL and SD held a leadership retreat October 26–28, 2021 that was 

planned around Ms. Tarazi and required others to accommodate Ms. Tarazi’s disability. Although 

the other attendees were located in the eastern or central U.S., the retreat was held in Portland, 

Oregon to accommodate Ms. Tarazi’s mold sensitivity and desire to avoid travel. Despite Ms. 
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Walker’s request for accommodations made a month prior, no attempt was made to inquire what 

accommodations might be made for Ms. Walker at the retreat. 

54. The accommodations provided to another white employee, Ms. Harrington, provide 

an even starker contrast. Like Ms. Walker, Ms. Harrington was a Vice President and supervisor at 

VRL. While an employee of NVF and SD in 2022, Ms. Harrington was diagnosed with lupus. 

Unlike Ms. Walker, Ms. Harrington was given accommodations for lupus that were denied to Ms. 

Walker; specifically, Ms. Harrington was allowed to work part-time and to take significant time 

off. 

E. Defendants Created a Hostile Work Environment 

55. Race was the basis for differential treatment of non-white employees in terms of 

pay, access to information and networks, eligibility for benefits, and accommodations for 

disabilities. Ms. Walker was not alone in pointing out that minority employees were treated 

differently, though she was perhaps the most persistent in doing so. A group consisting of all 

female minority employees at VRL, including Ms. Walker, started meeting in January 2020 to 

discuss equity issues, culminating in a letter sent to Ms. Lewis and Ms. Tarazi on June 2, 2020. 

The statement noted that VRL’s mission around voting disenfranchisement was a fundamental 

issue of racial justice. The statement noted that this is at odds with a “white supremacist culture 

throughout the organization,” in which “Black and Brown workers frequently feel disrespected, 

mistrusted, talked down to and micromanaged. Positive feedback is sporadic.” The statement 

concluded that it was being shared “with deep reservations about whether or not it is safe for us to 

do so. We fear retribution during a time when we need our salaries. We know that we have 

individually shared the above feedback with people, so we find it hard to believe that management 
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is unaware of these issues.” Defendants made no effort to address these claims of discrimination 

and concerns of retaliation. 

56. Among the people who wrote that letter, all but Ms. Walker had left NVF and SD 

by the end of October 2021. On information and belief, at least one of the letter writers left with a 

non-disclosure agreement to silence further complaints of discrimination. 

57. Racial issues at NVF and SD were not limited to these differentials, however. Under 

the guise of being “anti-racist,” the white leadership at VRL created an atmosphere in which they 

constantly discussed, analyzed and even questioned the racial identities of non-white employees, 

and based management decisions on their racist presumptions. One of Ms. Walker’s peers, Liz 

Avore, Vice President of Law and Policy and a white female, insisted on discussing Ms. Walker’s 

race and the racial identities of her direct reports—both of whom were Black women—in all 

meetings with Ms. Walker, so much so that it interfered with their work. In February 2021, Ms. 

Walker brought performance issues by Ms. Coleman to Ms. Avore’s attention, who supervised 

Ms. Coleman. Rather than wanting to hear about the performance problems, Ms. Avore focused 

on the color of Ms. Walker’s skin in comparison to Ms. Coleman. She told Ms. Walker that the 

performance problems were due to racial microaggressions from Ms. Walker. Ms. Avore said, 

“Well you and Soncia don’t experience the world the same way as Black women because you have 

lighter skin.” Ms. Avore then explained to Ms. Walker what it meant to be a Black woman. She 

excused Ms. Coleman’s performance issues and refused to discipline her because of the color of 

her skin. 

58. On or around March 11, 2021, Ms. Walker spoke to Ms. Lewis about the ongoing 

performance problems of Ms. Coleman. Like Ms. Avore, Ms. Lewis responded that Ms. Walker’s 

skin is much lighter than Ms. Coleman’s and she questioned Ms. Walker’s identity as a Black 
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woman because of her light skin color. Ms. Lewis further said that Ms. Walker was acting in a 

racist way towards Ms. Coleman by calling out her performance problems. Ms. Lewis also refused 

to discipline Ms. Coleman. 

59. This explicit race-based performance management, combined with less pay and less 

access to resources and benefits for minority—especially Black female—employees created an 

oppressive environment that consistently focused on skin color and devalued the actual work 

performed by minority employees, including Ms. Walker. 

60. By this time, Ms. Walker had repeatedly and consistently spoken out about 

discrimination by Defendants (Exhibit 2). The VRL and SD leadership organized a retreat in 

October 2021, purportedly to address concerns raised by Ms. Walker. In reality, the event was 

intentionally designed to intimidate Ms. Walker and to stop her from continuing to raise concerns. 

During the first day of the retreat, Ms. Walker was made to publicly state her concerns about racial 

and disability discrimination directly to Ms. Lewis and Ms. Tarazi, the individuals who 

discriminated against her. Ms. Lewis and Ms. Tarazi told Ms. Walker this was a necessary part of 

the retreat, and it was her responsibility to forgive them and trust them again, although no changes 

had been made to address the ongoing patterns of discrimination. 

61. The “retreat” was one in which an African American employee was coerced into a 

confrontation against the two white co-founders of the organization who held or had held 

supervisory authority over her. Witnessing the confrontation were hostile white colleagues. 

Beyond the humiliation that this caused Ms. Walker, the retreat was designed with willful 

disregard for her rights as an employee with claims of discrimination. Ms. Walker made clear at 

multiple points that day that she did not feel comfortable presenting her discrimination claims in 

this way, and it was so untenable that the first day’s session ended early. Yet upon coming to the 
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lobby for dinner that evening, Ms. Walker found that everyone else at the retreat was already in 

the hotel bar together for happy hour, which only served to compound Ms. Walker’s feelings of 

being singled out and isolated from the rest of the group, feelings which had characterized the 

entire retreat for Ms. Walker. 

F. Plaintiff Opposed Defendants’ Discrimination and Acted as a Whistleblower 

62. On October 28, 2021, after leaving the retreat, Ms. Walker sent several emails to 

Anthony Dale, Chief of Staff of VRL, regarding the discrimination and hostile work environment 

created by Defendants and reaffirming her opposition to Defendants’ discriminatory practices, 

particularly the availability of benefits being given to white employees but denied to minority 

employees. In response to this, Ms. Walker was offered full-time employment with NVF so that 

she could also receive benefits. Ms. Walker informed the Defendants that doing so would be 

illegal, as the majority of her work was with SD and working full-time for NVF would cause her 

to violate the Internal Revenue Code.  

63. On October 28, 2021, Ms. Walker emailed Ms. DeSmedt of VRL HR with another 

request for an accommodation for her disability and reaffirming her opposition to the inequitable 

availability of benefits for employees (Exhibit 3). 

64. On October 28, 2021, Ms. Walker met with a human resources representative from 

Arabella Advisors. Ms. Walker shared her concerns, including her fear of retaliation. 

G. Plaintiff Opposed Defendants’ Violations of the Internal Revenue Laws and Acted 

as a Whistleblower 

 

65. Ms. Walker’s discovery that Ms. Harrington was employed full-time by NVF 

caused her to also develop serious concerns about various financial practices engaged in by NVF 

and SD. The problematic conduct was being directed by VRL’s founders and senior executives 

and appeared to violate the Internal Revenue Code’s prohibition against 501(c)(3) organizations 
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participating in political activities. Specifically, Ms. Harrington and other full-time NVF 

employees publicly represented themselves as working for SD and spent nearly all of their time 

on political activities, including prohibited activities such as targeting U.S. Senate candidates 

running as Republicans. 

66. Ms. Walker had not previously known these employees were exclusively employed 

by NVF in part because NVF and SD employees did not accurately track their time worked for 

each organization. In fact, the NVF employee time tracking system used for payroll did not even allow 

for tracking of employee time spent on SD activities or projects (Exhibit 4). 

67. Even if the time tracking system had allowed for accurate time keeping, Ms. Walker 

knew that she, like all other SD employees, spent far more than half of their time on SD work, 

even though half of their salaries were paid for by NVF. 

68. NVF also subsidized SD’s operational expenses, including paying for computers, 

electronic communications licenses, travel costs, consultants, and lobbyists. Ms. Walker was 

particularly concerned about the lack of cost sharing, and SD failing to make a fair value 

reimbursement to NVF for NVF’s subsidies of political work by SD that would otherwise be 

prohibited for a 501(c)(3) organization. From her years spent working in politics and lobbying, 

Ms. Walker knew that there were strict limits on political activities by 501(c)(3) organizations. 

69. NVF’s illegal involvement in political activities reached its apex with the donation 

to Brad Raffensperger’s political campaign. Starting in December 2020, Daniel Lubetzky, a 

wealthy donor to NVF, reached out to Ms. Lewis in order to get connected to election officials and 

judges in political battleground states, including Georgia. Ms. Lewis directed him and his 

representatives to Ms. Walker for such contacts. In April 2021, when VRL’s lobbyists informed 

Ms. Lewis and Ms. Walker that Mr. Raffensperger, the Secretary of State of Georgia, was seeking 
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donations, Ms. Lewis directed them to Ms. Walker, who connected Mr. Lubetzky with Mr. 

Raffensperger. Mr. Lubetzky then made a donation to Mr. Raffensperger’s political campaign 

(Exhibit 5). NVF indirectly intervened in Mr. Raffensperger’s campaign by paying for the 

lobbyists who arranged the donation, paying for the computers and software Ms. Lewis used to 

direct Ms. Walker to assist with the donation, and paying the full salary of Ms. Lewis and the 

partial salary of Ms. Walker. 

70. Ms. Walker was not aware in April 2021 that Ms. Lewis was not an officer of SD 

and able to act on behalf of SD, and therefore did not question whether Ms. Lewis’ actions were 

legally compliant. Ms. Walker was also not aware at that time the extent to which NVF subsidized 

SD, including the lobbyists and operational systems that enabled the donation to Mr. 

Raffensperger’s campaign. Unlike Defendant Lewis, Ms. Walker is not an attorney, so reasonably 

relied on the advice of NVF’s and SD’s attorneys and on Arabella Advisors’ expertise in nonprofit 

compliance. By late October 2021, when Ms. Walker had come to understand the extent to which 

NVF improperly subsidized SD’s work, and learned about more improper practices engaged in by 

Defendants, she realized that she had to come forward with her concerns.  

71. Consistent with the NVF Employee Handbook (Exhibit 6) statement that 

employees had a “responsibility” to report activity that “may be illegal” to NVF, on October 28, 

2021, at 6:06 p.m., Ms. Walker sent an email to NVF General Counsel Andrew Schulz 

communicating her concerns about the specific failures of both NVF and SD to operate in 

compliance with the IRS rules and regulations for tax-exempt entities (Exhibit 7). 

72. Ms. Walker described in detail her concerns, which centered on NVF exercising 

control over SD and using tax-deductible contributions to NVF to pay compensation to numerous 

employees who performed most of their work for SD, as well as NVF’s extensive subsidies of SD, 
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in violation of federal law. Ms. Walker also raised concerns about NVF’s illegal involvement in 

political campaigns. Finally, Ms. Walker also raised the concerns about discrimination that she 

had previously brought to the attention of VRL leadership and NVF HR. She noted that part of the 

reason she was raising these concerns to Mr. Schulz was that Republican-affiliated groups were 

targeting VRL and NVF for political purposes, so that it was important that the organization avoid 

potentially illegal conduct. 

H. Retaliation 

73. On October 29, 2021, at 9:36 a.m., Defendants suspended Ms. Walker from all her 

work with no warning to her. Ms. Lewis also directed SD to terminate Ms. Walker’s access to her 

email account and other computer systems so that she could no longer perform her job. Ms. Walker 

had never been given an NVF email, so could not perform work for NVF either. Ms. Lewis took 

these actions without consulting with the SD board of directors (Exhibit 8). 

74. On November 1, 2021, Ms. Walker emailed Heather Smith, the chair of SD’s 

Board, about the concerns that she had raised with NVF and asserted whistleblower status with 

Defendant SD (Exhibit 9). Ms. Walker also noted that NVF employees were acting as agents of 

SD although they were neither employees nor directors of SD (Exhibit 10). Actions by NVF 

employees included: informing the SD board that Ms. Walker was suspended from SD; informing 

SD employees that all issues needed to be raised to Ms. Harrington, an NVF employee; contacting 

Google and claiming ownership of the secure-democracy.org domain in order to end Ms. Walker’s 

access to Google Workspace services, including her SD email (Exhibit 11); and suspending Ms. 

Walker’s use of the SD corporate credit card. 
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75. On November 3, 2021, Ms. Smith, acting on behalf of SD’s board, informed 

Defendant Lewis that she had no legal authority to place Ms. Walker on leave and must 

immediately cease interference with the operations of SD (Exhibit 12). 

76. On November 4, 2021, Defendant NVF’s general counsel confirmed that NVF 

employees had interfered with Ms. Walker’s position with SD and that Ms. Walker’s access to her 

email, Google drive and corporate credit card had been restored as of that day (Exhibit 13). 

77. Despite this attempt at restoration, Defendants’ actions had triggered further 

impacts. In the days after Ms. Walker’s suspension, VRL leadership sent out confusing emails that 

did not reassure SD staff, many of whom started looking for new jobs. VRL employees who were 

not employed by SD claimed to represent SD both internally to staff and to external partners, with 

several VRL employees creating fraudulent SD email accounts to do so. SD staff also had the 

unfortunate experience of arriving in Tampa, Florida for an event SD was hosting at a conference, 

and the corporate credit card was declined because Ms. Walker had been unable to communicate 

with their accountant. Ms. Walker was unable to sign or initiate contracts with important state-

level lobbyists with whom she had spent months cultivating relationships. She was unable to attend 

scheduled meetings with contractors or employees. Ms. Walker was unable to authorize lobbyist 

registrations or travel expenses. The chaos was so obvious that several partners said they would 

stop working with SD and one SD board member resigned. 

78. When her suspension from SD ended on November 4, 2021, in addition to dealing 

with all of the above-mentioned repercussions, Ms. Walker had to contend with the fact that SD 

might not have enough money to pay its existing obligations. On information and belief, previous 

money for SD had come from NVF and NVF refused to provide additional funding at this time. 

Because Ms. Walker had been suspended with no advance notice, SD’s accountant refused to 
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provide her with information, undermining her ability to address SD’s financial problems. SD’s 

law firm was conflicted out from advising Ms. Walker regarding SD because of their involvement 

with the concerns at issue in Ms. Walker’s whistleblowing complaint. In addition to further causing 

her stress, this made it nearly impossible for Ms. Walker to perform many aspects of her job. 

Nevertheless, between November 5, 2022 and November 19, 2022, she was actively involved in 

budgeting and other meetings planning for the expansion of SD’s operations during 2022. 

79. Defendants offered all SD staff full-time NVF positions on or around November 5, 

2021. Ms. Walker was not offered a full-time NVF position and remained on leave from NVF. 

80. Defendants created a new nonprofit organization, SD USA, on November 17, 2021. 

81. On or around November 20, 2021, NVF contacted Google to claim ownership of 

the SD accounts, ending Ms. Walker’s access again. Ms. Walker was informed that she had no 

access to her SD email not by any of the Defendants, but by an email from Google Workspace 

services (Exhibit 14). This occurred while Ms. Walker was on a planned vacation overseas, at a 

time that Defendants knew would make it difficult for her to regain access or to avoid professional 

embarrassment. 

82. On or around November 30, 2021, representatives of SD, NVF, and SD USA 

entered into an agreement to dissolve SD and to dispose of its remaining assets and liabilities to 

NVF and SD USA. The assets included the SD.org website, electronic documents in the SD 

Google Drive, and SD email accounts. The liabilities of SD included asserted and potential legal 

claims for which the parties agreed to cooperate in a good faith effort to settle and liquidate, with 

the full amounts required under any settlement agreement paid for by NVF and SD USA. Pursuant 

to this agreement, SD was dissolved on or around December 20, 2021. 
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83. Only four weeks earlier—and prior to Ms. Walker’s whistleblowing—there had 

been no discussion of any plans to dissolve Secure Democracy. Defendants SD and SD USA did 

not give Ms. Walker notice of termination or any information about her last day at SD. 

84. All SD employees were offered new positions with SD USA on or around 

November 30, 2021, except for Ms. Walker. Other than Ms. Walker’s absence, the two 

organizations appeared to differ very little (Exhibits 15, 16). 

85. Defendant NVF and the Senior Director of HR at Arabella Advisors told Ms. 

Walker that her suspension was pending an investigation of her complaints. This was consistent 

with the NVF Policy Handbook stating the General Counsel—the individual who received the 

Whistleblower email from Ms. Walker as required—was responsible for this action. On 

information and belief, although an investigator was hired, the investigation was cancelled. To Ms. 

Walker’s knowledge, no investigation was subsequently undertaken despite representations there 

would be an investigation of the problems identified in her Whistleblower email. 

86. However, on information and belief, several months after the Whistleblower email 

employee time reports from 2021 were altered to appear as if certain employees in fact worked 

some of the time for the a 501(c)(4) entity.  Further, NVF may have even received a reimbursement 

payment form an affiliated 501(c)(4) entity.   

87. Ms. Walker continues to be retaliated against as (i) she continues to be suspended 

from her duties; (ii) continues to be suspended from access to email, the company server, and other 

company business systems; and (iii) has been constructively discharged from her role and duties 

as SD’s Executive Director. 

88. A letter from NVF counsel dated August 17, 2022 claimed that VRL ceased to be 

a project of NVF as of June 16, 2022. Yet the District of Columbia Department of Consumer and 
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Regulatory Affairs (“DCRA”) shows that “Voting Rights Lab” is currently a Registered Trade 

Name for New Venture Fund, with a registration date of June 15, 2022. NVF commonly registers 

its fiscally sponsored projects as trade names with DCRA. 

89. In September 2022, Defendant NVF notified Ms. Walker that her last day as an 

NVF employee would be October 31, 2022.  Since then, she has ceased receiving any 

compensation or fringe benefits.  

I. Damages Suffered 

90. Defendants’ conduct has caused Ms. Walker pain and suffering, damage to her 

career and reputation, humiliation, and loss of enjoyment of life. 

91. Defendants’ actions caused Ms. Walker significant emotional distress. The 

suddenness and severity of Defendants’ actions triggered Ms. Walker’s complex post-traumatic 

stress disorder. She had to start therapy and receive a nerve blocker to address her symptoms, 

which include, but are not limited to, hypervigilance, sleep disturbances, nightmares, and anxiety. 

92. Defendants’ conduct severely impacted Ms. Walker’s physical health. The impact 

of stress on her auto-immune disorder was known to Defendants, as Ms. Walker had spoken openly 

with Ms. Lewis and Ms. Tarazi about the symptoms of lupus, and the serious complications of her 

disease were discussed with Defendants at the time of her hiring by NVF. In addition, Ms. Walker 

had specifically and on multiple occasions told Ms. Lewis that the stress of her job was causing 

her health to deteriorate. Her emotional distress and its serious impacts on her health were 

foreseeable to Defendants. 

93. Immediately upon being placed on leave and continuing thereafter, the stress from 

Defendants’ actions caused Ms. Walker to break out in hives and it was almost impossible for her 

to sleep and eat, further worsening her symptoms. She missed critical doctors’ appointments 
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because she had no access to her work calendar, where her appointments were scheduled. The 

arthritis in her left hand became so excruciating that Ms. Walker was unable to do many daily 

activities, making even typing extraordinarily difficult. Her blood pressure and ongoing issues with 

her heart and lungs also worsened. Her health deteriorated so quickly and so severely that in early 

December, she had to go to the emergency room for lupus and serositis. The ongoing nature of 

Defendants’ retaliation has caused her emotional and physical symptoms to continue. 

94. Defendants’ conduct also significantly damaged Ms. Walker’s professional 

reputation. When Ms. Walker was initially placed on leave, Defendants falsely represented to Ms. 

Walker’s professional contacts that she was out of the office for various reasons that included, but 

were not limited to, a sudden sabbatical, ill health, and the death of a close friend. They cancelled 

her speaking engagements at important conferences and because of the loss of access to her work 

accounts, Ms. Walker was unable to complete a prestigious fellowship. 

95. Defendants also did not inform many SD contractors and lobbyists that the 

organization was dissolving because they did not want contractors to question what was happening 

at SD. When Defendants blocked access to Ms. Walker’s email a second time, NVF employees 

provided SD contractors Ms. Walker’s personal email so that she was receiving requests for 

payment on her personal email, which continued through February 2022. Both times she was 

suddenly blocked from her work accounts caused her to miss meetings, be unresponsive to emails, 

fail to do necessary follow-ups with contractors and affiliates, and appear completely 

unprofessional to contacts with whom she had spent years building a reputation. Defendants’ 

actions caused multiple important contacts of Ms. Walker to question her professionalism and stop 

interacting with her. 
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96. Further, Defendants also told SD employees that Ms. Walker was acting 

maliciously and to not follow any of her directions during the two-week period between her 

suspensions from SD. Besides being false, this damaged her professional reputation among SD 

employees and NVF employees who were not part of Defendants’ retaliatory actions. 

97. As a consequence of Defendants’ conduct, Ms. Walker has suffered and will suffer 

economic harm, including lost past and future income and employment benefits, damage to her 

career, and lost wages, overtime, unpaid expenses, and penalties, as well as interest on unpaid 

wages at the legal rate from and after each payday on which those wages should have been paid.  

Ms. Walker lost half of her income, approximately $117,500, when she was constructively 

discharged from SD. Her discharge from NVF caused her to lose her remaining income as well as 

her insurance benefits. 

98. Finally, Defendant NVF and Ms. Smith are very influential in progressive elections 

policy organizations and many positions to which Ms. Walker would apply are connected to one 

or the other. Ms. Walker has only been able to secure contract work, and it has not been at her 

previous level of compensation or reflective of her level of experience. 

CLAIMS 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

Retaliation Prohibited by TFA 

 

99. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference the allegations of the paragraphs 

above, as if fully set forth herein. 

100. The TFA, 26 U.S. Code § 7623(d), makes retaliating against an employee who 

reports suspected violations of the Internal Revenue Code illegal.  

101. Ms. Walker reasonably believed the reported tax practices of NVF and SD violated 

the internal revenue laws and that such reports of tax violations were accurate. 
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102. Ms. Walker sent a Whistleblower email to Mr. Schultz describing improper tax 

practices by NVF and SD. The Whistleblower email was accurate, was submitted in accordance 

with the NVF handbook, and is protected as a lawful act by federal law.  

103. Under, § 7623(d)(1)(A), Ms. Walker’s email provided information, caused 

information to be provided, or otherwise assisted in an investigation regarding underpayment of 

tax or conduct which Ms. Walker reasonably believed constituted a violation of the internal 

revenue laws or a provision of Federal law relating to tax fraud, and the email was sent to a person 

with supervisory authority over the employee and/or working for the employer who has the 

authority to investigate, discover, or terminate misconduct. 

104. Rather than cease the noncompliant tax practice of using NVF to illegally subsidize 

SD’s political work, NVF’s leaders intentionally tried to compromise Ms. Walker by involving 

her in this illegal practice so she would no longer be a threat to report the improper financial 

activity. 

105. In violation of § 7623(d)(1), Defendants’ discharged, suspended, threatened, 

harassed, and otherwise discriminated against Ms. Walker in reprisal for reporting noncompliant 

tax practices. Defendants’ acts are prohibited under the TFA and are the precise conduct that the 

TFA was enacted to prevent. 

106. Accordingly, Plaintiff is entitled to the relief set out in § 7623(d)(3), including, 

compensatory damages; reinstatement with the same seniority status that she would have had, but 

for the reprisal; the sum of 200 percent of the amount of back pay and 100 percent of all lost 

benefits, with interest; and compensation for any special damages sustained as a result of the 

reprisal, including litigation costs, expert witness fees, and reasonable attorney fees. 

107. This claim is brought against Defendants NVF, SD, and SD USA.  
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SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

Discrimination on the Basis of Race in Violation of the DCHRA 

108. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference the allegations of the paragraphs 

above, as if fully set forth herein. 

109. Under the DCHRA, it is “an unlawful discriminatory practice” for an employer to, 

“based upon the actual or perceived race” of an individual, “discriminate . . . with respect to his or 

hers compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment; or to limit, segregate, or 

classify his or hers employees in any way which would deprive or tend to deprive any individual 

of employment opportunities, or otherwise adversely affect his or hers status as an employee . . .” 

D.C. Code § 2-1402.11(a)(1)(A). 

110. Under the DCHRA, it is “an unlawful discriminatory practice for any person to aid 

[or] abet . . . any of the acts forbidden under the provisions of this chapter . . .” D.C. Code § 2-

1402.62. 

111. As an African American, Plaintiff is a member of a protected class under the 

DCHRA. 

112. Plaintiff was fully qualified for her positions as Vice President of Advocacy of VRL 

and Executive Director of SD and was able to perform all the essential functions of the positions. 

113. As described above, Defendants’ actions—paying Plaintiff less than white 

employees, denying her access to information that was given to similarly situated white employees, 

and denying her benefits that were given to white employees—violated the DCHRA. 

114. In particular, Defendants told Plaintiff that she could not receive a salary above the 

pay scale but gave white employees salaries well above the pay scale. Plaintiff was paid less than 

white employees who had less education and experience than Plaintiff, including white employees 

such as Ms. Higginbotham, who reported to her and had fewer responsibilities. When Plaintiff was 
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assigned additional responsibilities for a period she was told would exceed three months, 

Defendants did not increase her pay as required by NVF policies. 

115. In particular, Defendants denied Plaintiff access to detailed salary information 

about her direct reports, reasons for hiring people who reported to her, and information about 

whether employees were classified as full-time or part-time NVF employees. A similarly situated 

African American Vice President, Ms. LoBue, also did not receive such information. In 

comparison, all white Vice Presidents had access to this information. By denying her access to 

basic financial information about the organization she was purported to lead, Defendants adversely 

affected the terms and conditions of Plaintiff’s employment. 

116. Additionally, Defendants classified Plaintiff and most minority employees as part-

time NVF employees so as to deny them access to life insurance and disability benefits that were 

given to white employees, most of whom were classified as full-time NVF employees. In direct 

comparison, when Ms. Harrington was hired, she was classified as a full-time NVF employee 

specifically so she could access disability insurance, despite the fact that most of her work would 

be for SD. Ms. Harrington, a white female, was given this option although non-white employees 

hired at the same time were not, nor was Ms. Walker. This significantly adversely affected Plaintiff 

as she had specifically and repeatedly asked about how she could avail herself of the disability 

benefits given to a similarly situated white employee. 

117. As detailed herein, Defendants failed to make an individualized assessment to 

determine whether a reasonable accommodation would enable Plaintiff to continue to perform the 

essential functions of her positions, but made such an assessment and accommodated two similarly 

situated white employees, Ms. Tarazi and Ms. Harrington. 
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118. Further substantiating Plaintiff’s claims, as described above, Defendants treated 

minority employees as a whole worse than similarly situated white employees—lower pay with 

more responsibilities, less access to donor and professional networks, less access to information 

that was given to white employees, and unequal eligibility for benefits—in violation of the 

DCHRA. 

119. As a result of Defendants’ actions, Plaintiff has suffered and will continue to suffer 

both economic and non-economic harm. Plaintiff is entitled to all relief deemed appropriate, 

including economic damages, emotional damages, punitive damages, and equitable relief. 

120. This claim is brought against Defendants NVF, SD, and SD USA. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

Discrimination on the Basis of Sex in Violation of the DCHRA 

 

121. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference the allegations of the paragraphs 

above, as if fully set forth herein. 

122. Under the DCHRA, it is “an unlawful discriminatory practice” for an employer to, 

“based upon the . . . sex” of an individual, “discriminate . . . with respect to his or hers 

compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment; or to limit, segregate, or classify 

his or hers employees in any way which would deprive or tend to deprive any individual of 

employment opportunities, or otherwise adversely affect his or hers status as an employee . . .” 

D.C. Code § 2-1402.11(a)(1)(A). 

123. As a female, Plaintiff is a member of a protected class under the DCHRA. 

124. Plaintiff was fully qualified for her positions as Vice President of Advocacy of VRL 

and Executive Director of SD and was able to perform all the essential functions of the positions. 

125. As described above, Defendants paid Plaintiff less than male employees in violation 

of the DCHRA. 
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126. Defendants told Plaintiff that she could not negotiate for a salary outside of the pay 

scale but allowed a new male employee to negotiate his salary. That male employee, Luis 

Rodriguez, who reported to her, was paid more than Plaintiff, even though he had less education, 

less experience, and had fewer responsibilities. Similarly, Plaintiff’s male supervisor, Colin 

Weaver, also had less education and experience than Plaintiff and, at the time that she was assigned 

his responsibilities in addition to her own, his pay was 60% higher. 

127. As a result of Defendants’ actions, Plaintiff has suffered and will continue to suffer 

both economic and non-economic harm. Plaintiff is entitled to all relief deemed appropriate, 

including economic damages, emotional damages, punitive damages, and equitable relief. 

128. This claim is brought against Defendants NVF, SD, and SD USA. 

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Discrimination on the Basis of Disability in Violation of the DCHRA 

 

129. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference the allegations of the paragraphs 

above, as if fully set forth herein. 

130. Under the DCHRA, it is “an unlawful discriminatory practice” for an employer to, 

“based upon the actual or perceived . . . disability” of an individual, “discriminate . . . with respect 

to his or hers compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment; or to limit, segregate, 

or classify his or hers employees in any way which would deprive or tend to deprive any individual 

of employment opportunities, or otherwise adversely affect his or hers status as an employee . . .” 

D.C. Code § 2-1402.11(a)(1)(A). 

131. Because lupus, pericarditis, arthritis, and neuropathy substantially limit at least one 

of Plaintiff’s major life activities, Plaintiff is an individual with a disability under the DCHRA. 
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132. Plaintiff was fully qualified for her positions as Vice President of Advocacy and 

Executive Director and was able to perform all the essential functions of the positions. Indeed, 

Plaintiff was repeatedly promoted at NVF and SD because of her capabilities. 

133. Prior to her hiring by VRL and SD, Ms. Lewis and Ms. Tarazi knew of Plaintiff’s 

disability. Prior to or at the time of her hiring by NVF, Defendants NVF and SD knew of Plaintiff’s 

disability. 

134. As described above, Plaintiff’s increasingly demanding work and travel schedule 

in 2021 caused flare-ups of her lupus and other conditions, and she requested a modified work 

schedule. Defendants made no individualized assessment to determine whether a reasonable 

accommodation would enable her to continue to perform the essential functions of her positions, 

as is required under the DCHRA. 

135. In violation of the DCHRA, Defendants SD and SD USA terminated Plaintiff 

instead of making an individualized assessment to determine whether a reasonable accommodation 

would enable her to continue to perform the essential functions of her position as Executive 

Director of SD violated the DCHRA. 

136. In violation of the DCHRA, Defendant NVF failed to make an individualized 

assessment to determine whether a reasonable accommodation would enable Plaintiff to continue 

to perform the essential functions of her position as Vice President of VRL. 

137. As a result of Defendants’ actions and inactions, Plaintiff has suffered and will 

continue to suffer both economic and non-economic harm. Plaintiff is entitled to all relief deemed 

appropriate, including economic damages, emotional damages, punitive damages, and equitable 

relief. 

138. This claim is brought against Defendants NVF, SD, and SD USA. 
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FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Hostile Work Environment in Violation of the DCHRA 

 

139. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference the allegations of the paragraphs 

above, as if fully set forth herein. 

140. The DCHRA covers discrimination and harassment based on race, color, sex or 

other protected classes. D.C. Code § 2-1402.11(a). 

141. “‘Harassment’ means conduct, whether direct or indirect, verbal or nonverbal, that 

unreasonably alters an individual's terms, conditions, or privileges of employment or has the 

purpose or effect of creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive work environment.” § 2-

1402.11(c-2)(2)(A). 

142. Plaintiff is a member of a protected class. 

143. Plaintiff has been subjected to unwelcome harassment. As detailed herein, 

Defendants repeatedly made remarks to, and engaged in acts towards, Plaintiff that indicate 

Defendants harbored discriminatory animus. 

144. The harassment was based on Plaintiff’s membership in the protected class. 

Defendants consistently treated Plaintiff and other female employees of color worse than white 

female employees or male employees in ways that materially affected the terms, conditions, and 

privileges of their employment. Defendants paid non-white female employees less, classified them 

so as to deny them access to insurance benefits and to important professional networks, gave them 

more responsibilities without simultaneous salary increases, prevented them from accessing 

information necessary to perform their jobs, and made repeated racist and colorist comments that 

created a hostile working environment. When Plaintiff opposed these practices, Defendants 

coerced Plaintiff into stating her discrimination claims directly to the people who discriminated 

against her, in front of hostile coworkers who had been comparatively better treated. 
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145. The harassment was objectively and subjectively offensive, and severe and 

pervasive enough to affect a term, condition, or privilege of Plaintiff’s employment. 

146. Defendants’ harassing conduct toward Plaintiff was committed with malice, 

including that (a) Defendants acted with intent to cause injury to Plaintiff and/or acted with 

reckless disregard for Plaintiff’s injury, including by retaliating against Plaintiff, terminating 

Plaintiff’s employment and/or taking other adverse job actions against Plaintiff because of her 

race, color, sex, and/or good faith complaints, and/or (b) Defendants’ conduct was  committed in 

willful, wanton, and reckless disregard of Plaintiff’s rights, health, and safety, including Plaintiff’s 

right to be free of discrimination, harassment, retaliation, and wrongful employment termination. 

147. As a proximate result of Defendants’ willful, knowing, and intentional 

harassment and intimidation, Plaintiff has suffered and continues to suffer both economic and non-

economic harm. Plaintiff is entitled to all relief deemed appropriate, including economic damages, 

emotional damages, punitive damages, and equitable relief. 

148. This claim is brought against Defendants NVF, SD, and SD USA. 

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Retaliation in Violation of the DCHRA 

 

149. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference the allegations of the paragraphs 

above, as if fully set forth herein. 

150. Under the DCHRA, it is “an unlawful discriminatory practice to coerce, threaten, 

retaliate against, or interfere with any person in the exercise or enjoyment of . . . any right granted 

or protected under this chapter.” D.C. Code § 2-1402.61(a). 

151. Under the DCHRA, it is “an unlawful discriminatory practice . . . to . . . retaliate 

against, interfere with, intimidate or discriminate against a person, because that person has opposed 

any practice made unlawful by this chapter . . .” D.C. Code § 2-1402.61(b). 
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152. As detailed herein, Plaintiff spoke with Arabella Advisors on October 28, 2021 

about the discrimination and hostile work environment she experienced, her opposition to 

Defendants’ discriminatory practices, and her concerns about retaliation. 

153. On the evening the October 28, 2021, Plaintiff emailed Defendant NVF and 

opposed Defendants’ discriminatory treatment based on race, sex, age, and disability. Specifically, 

Plaintiff stated that the misclassification of Ms. Harrington as a full-time NVF employee was done 

so that Ms. Harrington could access benefits that were being denied to Plaintiff and to other 

employees of color, notably Ms. Patel and Mr. Malbrough, both of whom were hired around the 

same time as Ms. Harrington. Plaintiff also opposed the differential treatment of Ms. Tarazi’s 

disability, who was given an accommodation when Plaintiff was not. Plaintiff reasonably believed 

that these differential treatments constituted unlawful discrimination. 

154. The next morning, Defendant NVF placed Plaintiff on immediate leave from both 

NVF and SD. Her email access and access to all SD electronic assets were suspended without 

warning to her or even to the SD board. These actions prevented Plaintiff from: performing her 

job (including her management and leadership of employees), attending high-profile meetings, 

authorizing expenses, and communicating with contractors and funders. These actions made her 

completely unable to work and perpetuated the hostile work environment. 

155. Further, even after the SD board demanded that Plaintiff be reinstated to SD, 

Defendants once again retaliated against her by blocking her access to her email and work accounts 

a second time, on November 20, 2021. In a pattern of antagonism, this was again done with no 

warning or explanation to Plaintiff, indicating both hostility towards Plaintiff and a reckless 

disregard of her rights. Defendants’ actions additionally were accompanied by fraudulently 
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informing Google that Plaintiff was not an authorized user of SD accounts. Plaintiff had no ability 

to continue to work for SD as a result of Defendants’ actions. 

156. The conduct of Defendants towards Plaintiff would have dissuaded any reasonable 

employee from making their own, or from supporting another’s, charge of discrimination. Plaintiff 

had made a good faith attempt to oppose discriminatory practices, and had been immediately 

placed on leave upon doing so. Although she was temporarily reinstated to her position at SD, 

Defendants’ actions continued to materially harm Plaintiff. During her two-week reinstatement, 

Plaintiff attempted to mitigate the harms caused by Defendants’ actions. When Defendants again 

terminated Plaintiff’s access to her work accounts without notice nor explanation, their actions 

exacerbated the harms already done to Plaintiff. 

157. Defendant NVF had no legitimate, non-discriminatory reasons for placing Plaintiff 

on leave from SD. Defendant NVF’s actions placing Plaintiff on leave from SD was done purely 

for retaliatory, discriminatory reasons, as Ms. Lewis was not authorized to take this action on SD’s 

behalf. The decision to place Plaintiff on leave from NVF at the same time was done for the same 

discriminatory, retaliatory reasons. The post hoc claim that Plaintiff was placed on leave pending 

an investigation was quickly proven false, as the attempt at investigation ended quickly thereafter 

and Plaintiff was not reinstated. Nor was the decision to keep Plaintiff on ongoing administrative 

leave done in order to shield Plaintiff from further discrimination or retaliation. To the contrary, 

additional retaliatory actions were taken against Plaintiff after she was placed on leave. 

158. Furthermore, if Defendant NVF’s relationship with VRL ended June 16, 2022, then 

Plaintiff’s employment with NVF should have ended that same day. There would be no legitimate 

business reason to keep her employed after that date since Plaintiff’s position with NVF would 

have ended along with every other employee of VRL. If, in the alternative, Defendant NVF’s 
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relationship with VRL did not end on June 16, 2022, then Defendants had over a year in which to 

resolve Plaintiff’s concerns and ensure that Plaintiff could exercise her rights to a workplace free 

of discrimination, harassment, or retaliation. Yet during that time, Defendants made no good faith 

attempt to resolve the claims raised by Plaintiff. 

159. Defendants SD and SD USA, acting by and through Ms. Smith and others, had no 

legitimate, non-discriminatory reasons for discharging Plaintiff. Plaintiff’s position with SD ended 

with no formal notice to her, nor to the many vendors and contractors of SD who continued to 

contact Plaintiff regarding invoices and other matters long after her position with SD ended. 

Indeed, for all intents and purposes, SD USA was identical to SD, with the critical distinction that 

Plaintiff was not employed by SD USA. If there had been a legitimate business reason to dissolve 

SD, then as Executive Director, Plaintiff would have been involved in its dissolution and winding 

up. Instead, Plaintiff was denied access to her email and SD Google accounts, denied assistance 

from SD’s accountant and attorney, and denied any information about what was happening. 

160. If the creation of SD USA was for legitimate, non-discriminatory reasons, then 

Plaintiff would have been offered a position at SD USA, as was every other SD employee. 

161. In addition, Defendants’ decision to terminate Plaintiff from SD was accompanied 

by numerous misrepresentations. The decision to dissolve SD and create SD USA was 

intentionally kept quiet, with no explanation given to employees of SD and NVF, and an explicit 

attempt to prevent contractors of SD from learning that SD had dissolved. Employees of NVF 

misrepresented themselves as employees of SD. Defendants misled employees and contractors 

about what was happening. NVF employees misled employees, vendors, contractors, funders, and 

others about why Plaintiff was on leave. 
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162. As a result of Defendants’ actions, Plaintiff has suffered and will continue to suffer 

both economic and non-economic harm. Plaintiff is entitled to all relief deemed appropriate, 

including economic damages, emotional damages, punitive damages, and equitable relief. 

163. This claim is brought against Defendants NVF, SD, and SD USA. 

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress 

 

164. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference the allegations of the paragraphs 

above, as if fully set forth herein. 

165. As described above, Defendants’ discriminatory, harassing, and retaliatory actions 

against Plaintiff constituted severe and outrageous misconduct and caused Plaintiff extreme 

emotional distress. 

166. Defendants knew or should have known that their actions would be distressing to 

Plaintiff. Defendants knew that Plaintiff would be particularly susceptible to emotional distress as 

they were on notice that the symptoms of her chronic diseases are exacerbated by stress. 

167. In addition, Defendants had previously failed to take any action to accommodate 

Plaintiff’s disability, so Plaintiff was already at a high level of emotional and physical distress. 

168. As a direct result of Defendants’ extreme and outrageous conduct, Plaintiff did 

suffer and continues to suffer severe emotional distress. 

169. As a proximate result of Defendants’ extreme and outrageous conduct, Plaintiff has 

suffered and continues to suffer humiliation, emotional distress, mental pain and anguish, and her 

physical health has deteriorated. 

170. Defendants’ misconduct was committed intentionally or recklessly.  

171. This claim is brought against all Defendants. 

REQUESTED RELIEF 
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WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that the Court enter judgment on her behalf 

on all counts contained herein, and grant her the following relief: 

(a) Declaratory judgment that Defendants’ conduct violated Plaintiff’s rights. In 

particular, that the Court declare the actions of Defendants complained of herein to be in violation 

of: the TFA, 26 U.S. Code § 7623(d), and the DCHRA, D.C. Code § 2-1401.1 et seq.; and that 

Defendants intentionally and recklessly inflicted emotional distress upon Plaintiff;  

(b) Injunctive relief permanently enjoining Defendants, their agents, employees, and 

successors from discriminating on the basis of race, sex, age, or disability, or retaliating against 

Plaintiff or any persons in violation of the aforementioned acts; 

(c) Compensatory damages, including economic and non-economic damages, in an 

amount to be determined by the jury;  

(d) Punitive damages as a result of Defendants’ engaging in discriminatory practices 

with malice, willfulness, evil motive, or reckless indifference to federally protected rights; 

(e) Equitable relief; 

(f) Prejudgment and post-judgment interest on all damages; 

(g) Reasonable attorneys’ fees, litigation expenses, and costs; and 

(h) Such other and further relief as the Court deems appropriate based on the facts and 

applicable law. 

  

Case 1:22-cv-03312-APM   Document 12   Filed 04/21/23   Page 41 of 42



42 

 

JURY DEMAND 

 

Plaintiff requests a trial by jury as to all issues of fact and damages raised in this case. 

 

 

Dated: April 21, 2023    Respectfully submitted,  

 

         /s/  Jennifer Hoffpauir    

Jennifer Hoffpauir (Bar No. 90008692) 

jennifer.hoffpauir@parlatorelawgroup.com 

Parlatore Law Group, LLP 

One World Trade Center, Suite 8500 

New York, NY 10007 

(212) 603-9918 (tel) 

(212) 202-4784 (fax) 

 

       Alex J. Brown 

Alex.Brown@LanierLawFirm.com 

Zeke DeRose III 

Zeke.DeRose@LanierLawFirm.com 

THE LANIER LAW FIRM 

10940 W. Sam Houston Pkwy N. 

Suite 100 

Houston, TX 77064 

(713) 659-5200 (tel) 

(713) 659-2204 (fax) 

 

       K. Lawson Pedigo 

Bar ID: TX0186 

SBOT: 15716500 

klpedigo@mkp-law.net 

Miller, Keffer & Pedigo, Pllc 

3100 Monticello Ave., Suite 480 

Dallas, Texas 75205 

(214) 696-2050 (tel) 

(214) 696-2482 (fax) 

 

Counsel for Plaintiff Sarah Walker 
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APPENDIX 

 

Employment Discrimination and Retaliation 

 

Unlawful discrimination against S. Walker on the basis of race, sex, age, and disability; 

Retaliation against S. Walker for opposing discriminatory practices. 

 

EXHIBIT ACTION COMMENT 

1 

(Pages 

3-8) 

Text communication with A. Harrington after she 

realized that 50% SD employees were being denied 

benefits. She acknowledges that a recent hire was also 

misled about STD, LTD and life insurance. A. 

Harrington also shared internal Slack communications 

involving her, A. Dale and M. DeSmedt regarding A. 

Harrington’s classification as a part-time or full-time 

NVF employee. 

Employee classifications 

as part-time or full-time 

NVF were arbitrary and 

discriminatory, 

immediately affecting 

eligibility for benefits. 

2 

(Pages 

9-26) 

SW’s memo to NVFL/VRL management sent in June 

2020 related to concerns of pay inequity and unethical 

pay-to-play activity. Sent to M. Lewis, S. Tarazi, and 

C. LoBue, then Chief of Staff. 

This was one of several 

times when S. Walker 

raised discrimination 

concerns. 

3 

(Pages 

27-28) 

S. Walker communication to M. DeSmedt and A. Dale 

asking for an accommodation. S. Walker had inquired 

about accommodations and part-time work on multiple 

occasions in the prior weeks.  

One of many requests for 

an accommodation of S. 

Walker’s disability. 

4 

(Pages 

29-31) 

Example timesheet from VRL/NVF showing no 

tracking of SD time from Kay Cook, a split NVF/SD 

employee. Her time sheet is consistent with other NVF 

employees. 

She was instructed to 

claim 50% of her time on 

“admin or program” work. 

5 

(Pages 

32-37) 

Emails between Lubetzky representatives and M. 

Lewis and S. Walker. Text messages from B. 

Raffensperger to NVF lobbyists confirming donation 

from D. Lubetzky. 

This indirect political 

contribution by NVF is 

prohibited by IRS Rev. 

Rul. 2007-41. 

6 

(Pages 

38-40) 

Portion of NVF Employee Handbook concerning 

whistleblower protections. 

 

7 

(Pages 

41-46) 

Whistleblower email to A. Schulz of NVF.  

Case 1:22-cv-03312-APM   Document 12-1   Filed 04/21/23   Page 1 of 73

https://www.dropbox.com/home/Lawson%252525252520Documents/NVF%25252525253AVRL%252525252520Time%252525252520sheets?preview=Replicon+-+Team+-+Timesheet+-+Cook%25252525252C+Kay+(kalynncook)+(2021-3-16).pdf


8 

(Pages 

47-48) 

NVF retaliation against S. Walker. M. Lewis 

informing SD Board that S. Walker was placed on 

administrative leave. 

Actions were taken 

without authorization from 

SD board. 

9 

(Pages 

49-51) 

Whistleblower email to H. Smith of SD.  

10 

(Pages 

52-53) 

A. Harrington sending out talking points about how to 

talk to SD contacts and contractors about SW on 

administrative leave. 

Communication was sent 

out without SD board’s 

authorization. A. 

Harrington was not an SD 

employee. 

11 

(Pages 

54-56) 

Email from Google Workspace Support on Nov. 1, 

2021 acknowledging that Anthony Dale, an NVF 

employee, claimed that SW was rogue on the SD 

Google Workspace in order to shut down her access. 

 

12 

(Pages 

57-58) 

Email communication from H. Smith acknowledging 

that M. Lewis had no authority to place SW on 

administrative leave and deny her access to her SD 

email. 

 

13 

(Pages 

59-60) 

NVF acknowledging M. Lewis’s conduct, confirming 

SW’s access had been restored, and attempting to 

minimize the conduct. 

  

14 

(Pages 

61-64) 

Email from Google Workspace Support to S. Walker 

on Nov. 20, 2021 informing her that NVF is claiming 

ownership of the SD account, and that she can no 

longer have access. 

This was the only 

notification S. Walker 

received that her position 

at SD had ended. 

15 

(Pages 

65-68) 

Secure Democracy website “Our Leadership” page, 

accessed November 30, 2021. 

 

16 

(Pages 

69-73) 

Secure Democracy website “Our Leadership” page, 

accessed January 4, 2022. 

 

 

Case 1:22-cv-03312-APM   Document 12-1   Filed 04/21/23   Page 2 of 73



 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 1 

Case 1:22-cv-03312-APM   Document 12-1   Filed 04/21/23   Page 3 of 73



Case 1:22-cv-03312-APM   Document 12-1   Filed 04/21/23   Page 4 of 73



Case 1:22-cv-03312-APM   Document 12-1   Filed 04/21/23   Page 5 of 73



Case 1:22-cv-03312-APM   Document 12-1   Filed 04/21/23   Page 6 of 73



Case 1:22-cv-03312-APM   Document 12-1   Filed 04/21/23   Page 7 of 73



Case 1:22-cv-03312-APM   Document 12-1   Filed 04/21/23   Page 8 of 73



 

 

 

 

 

  EXHIBIT  2

Case 1:22-cv-03312-APM   Document 12-1   Filed 04/21/23   Page 9 of 73



12/21/21, 2:31 PM Gmail - Documentation of Ongoing Issues

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ik=6fd5cdc247&view=pt&search=all&permthid=thread-f%3A1668956627317072838&simpl=msg-f%3A1668956627317072838&simpl=msg-a%3Ar-1915699365922748099&simpl=ms… 1/3

Sarah Walker <sarahcwalker@gmail.com>

Documentation of Ongoing Issues
4 messages

Sarah Walker <sarah@secure-democracy.org> Mon, Jun 8, 2020 at 1:30 PM
To: Megan <megan@votingrightslab.org>
Cc: Sam Tarazi <sam@votingrightslab.org>, Christian <christian@votingrightslab.org>
Bcc: sarahcwalker@gmail.com

Megan, As discussed on Friday, I am submitting written documentation of the ongoing issues related to Colin. I hope that as I stated in the call that this is not taken 
to be an act of provocation, but rather, as a means of documentation for myself. As the memo indicates and as I have stated to Christian, I began this Memo prior to 
May 21st with the intention of raising this when Colin left for paternity leave. 

Thank you for your understanding in this matter,

Sarah

-- 


Sarah Walker
State Affairs
Secure Democracy
612-220-2070
sarah@secure-democracy.org 

Memo_ Colin.Workplace.June.2020.pdf

169K

Sarah Walker <sarahcwalker@gmail.com> Mon, Jun 8, 2020 at 1:34 PM
To: jathilingam@gmail.com

I submitted this to Megan, Sam, and Christian..  
[Quoted text hidden]
-- 


Sarah C. Walker

cell: 612.220.2070

@sarahwalkermn
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Memo
 

Date: ​May 21, 2020 - June 7, 2020  
TO: ​Christian LoBue, Sam Tirazi, Megan Lewis  
FROM: ​Sarah Walker 
RE: ​Colin / Toxic Work Environment / Differential Treatment / Failure of Supervision / 
Denial of Compensation / Illicit Activity / Appropriation of Work Product / Lack of 
Accountability  
 
Pursuant to my conversation with Megan on June 5, 2020, this Memo is submitted to provide 
documentation of conversations and communications I have had with members of the 
leadership team regarding ongoing concerns.  As discussed with Megan, I feel a need to 
provide written documentation to protect myself and ensure that ongoing organizational issues 
are addressed.   This document, as will be evidenced in google docs, was first created prior to 
May 21, 2020 with the intention of sharing this with leadership upon Colin’s paternity leave.  I 
had feared retaliation and alienation by Colin, so my intention was to wait until he had left for 
paternity leave.  I am also providing the link the google doc for verification and to ensure that 
event of George Floyd’s death are not the impetus of my sharing: 
https://docs.google.com/document/d/12Kl-r0zmVvr8jTyi8AD-PrR7vyXSk-g041PAAhvnqK8/edit​. 
I had been told that his paternity leave would begin June 1.  When it became obvious that his 
date of departure for paternity leave was farther off, and out of a feeling of utter frustration I 
reached out Christian.  I would like to note that until that instance, I had never reached out or 
gone around the organizational hierarchy.   I had believed that it would be easier to address and 
discuss some of these fundamental issues while Colin was absent.  Colin refused to tell me 
when he was leaving for paternity leave and only a few days ago after significant organizational 
upheaval and my stating clearly that I needed to plan for my own time off did he acknowledge 
that his leave would begin on June 22, 2020.  I appreciate the consideration for many of my 
concerns.  I have now received the “Acting Director Job Description” offer and have committed 
to accepting that position.   I also appreciate the offer and commitment to either return to my 
role as Associate Director and/or reexamine my role after the 10-week period.  While I am 
comfortable returning to the work of a State Affairs Associate Director, however without 
fundamental changes in the leadership of state affairs, it seems untenable to foresee a future as 
an Associate Director.  So, without fundamental changes and accountability I will opt for the 
later option of re-examining/redefining my role.  This document illuminates the reasons why 
returning to an Associate Director’s position under the current structure is not a tenable option. 
Each area described below is documentation of ongoing concerns expressed to a member of 
the leadership team.  
 

● Leadership Team +​ - In late March I was asked to assume additional work 
responsibilities which included supervision/management of State Affairs staff and 
additional work.  Over the course of the last few months that work has only increased in 
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its breadth.   When I was asked to assume these additional responsibilities I assumed it 
would come with a job description and compensation for the work.  Neither came to 
fruition until this Thursday, June 4, 2020 after conversations with Colin and Megan 
indicating that I would no longer accept this ambiguous role without a job description and 
associated compensation for the additional work.    When speaking with Megan on 
Thursday, June 4, 2020 she indicated that NVF policy only required a status change if a 
temporary reassignment was expected to last for more than 3 months.   I spoke with 
Megan again on Friday, June 5, 2020 to express my concerns about her comment and 
to request that she consider paying back compensation for the period between late 
March and early June.   The reasons are as follows: 

○ Reassignment Length & Failure to Follow NVF Policy -​ When I was asked to 
assume this role of what has been deemed “Leadership Team +” I was told by 
Colin that this work would likely continue until either the elections or fall.   This 
was always what was stated.   This was reaffirmed in our weekly calls when 
multiple members of the leadership team noted that the work in front of us would 
carry on throughout the Summer.   If NVF’s policy states that any temporary 
reassignment of more than 3 months requires an HR status change Secure 
Democracy / Voting Rights Lab was in violation of the state policy.  

○ Paternity Leave Makes Claims of Temporary Reassignment Erroneous - 
Specific to my circumstances, in addition to being told that these responsibilities 
would potentially last through the November 2020 elections I was also told that I 
would be assuming Colin’s work throughout his paternity period.  His paternity 
was to last through the end of summer.  So, even if the organization would like to 
claim that the timeline was not clear for how long Leadership Team + would exist, 
it is clear that in my case the time period from the end of March through the end 
of August is well over the NVF guidelines which only allows for temporary 
reassignments for a period of 3 months.  

○ Denial of Pay to Women of Color​ - There were two individuals within the 
organization that were told to assume increased responsibility and supervisory 
authority.  I, of course, am on the two women, but it must be noted that both 
myself and the other woman, Soncia, are women of color.   We were both asked 
to assume additional work and supervisory responsibilities without compensation. 
The work we assumed was the work of our caucasian division directors.  This 
raises concerns of either intentional or unintentional racial marginalization and 
concerns of racialized wage theft.   The two women of color who were placed in 
Leadership Team + roles have equal if not greater education and experience 
than the directors whose work they were assuming.   There is no legitimate basis 
for denial of compensation for work based on experience or education.  

○ Failure to Provide Job Description or Articulate Role and Expectations​ - 
Despite numerous requests to Colin to clarify my roles and responsibilities within 
this new “Leadership Team Plus” structure no guidance or job description was 
ever offered.  There were never clear expectations or understanding of simple 
management tasks like approval of timesheets, role in hiring, and role in the 
organizational approval process.  Despite the lack of clearly defined roles and 
responsibilities I was continuously held accountable and asked questions about 
organizational responsibilities that were never articulated to me.   Additionally, 
the work was constantly shifting without any clear communication, training, or 
warning.  I would point to the assumption of the Election Administration work and 
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the management of the GOP consultants.  Both bodies of work were given to me 
with zero warning and with expectations that were often not clear.  

○ Failure to Transition or Notify of Paternity Leave​ - Colin refused to inform me 
of his paternity leave dates until last week when I essentially compelled him to tell 
me by expressing that I needed to make my own summer plans combined with 
the fact that the POC staff had issued that statement.  I spoke with Christian 
about not being informed of his departure date and was shocked to learn that not 
even the Chief of Staff had been informed of his date of departure.   It is 
impossible to plan or transition without basic information.  Both Luis and Sarah 
Jane had asked me on multiple occasions and I had no answer.  In addition, 
there have been no efforts to transition work or approval authority.  Colin has not 
scheduled a single meeting or had one conversation about what this period 
would look like and what of his work I would need to assume.  

○ Everytown Culture and Clique​ - There is a widespread feeling among associate 
directors that the organization is insular and that the organization is dominated by 
an Everytown Culture and Everytown personnel.  The Everytown staff are 
exclusively white and dominate the leadership structure.  This makes it difficult 
for associate directors who are overwhelmingly people of color to express their 
concerns because we are all aware of the long-standing working relationships. 
A recent example of how this plays out in a dysfunctional and marginalizing 
manner is in a conversation that took place among members of SA.  Colin used 
the MI Drop Box Guidance document as an example to highlight issues.   During 
that conversation, despite the fact that Sarah Jane was not a part of the MI work, 
she spoke up and indicated that Liz had already discussed this with her and 
asked her for her thoughts.   What is so troubling about this is that Liz could have 
reached out to me, as part of LT+, but instead reaches out to someone who is my 
supposed direct report to have this conversation.  It is undermining my ability to 
supervise, breaks management structure, and evidences the way in which it is 
difficult for those who are not former Everytown staff and are overwhelmingly 
people of color to feel that they are on equal footing.  

○ Denial of Authority and Information to Perform in Leadership Team + ​- 
When the Leadership Team + structure was established there was not clarity on 
roles and responsibilities.  There was also no clear designation of authority or 
approval thus rendering membership in Leadership Team + ineffective or unable 
to provide meaningful leadership or supervisory management.  

■ As part of Leadership Team + I was not included in decision making and 
decisions were often delayed or never communicated.  

■ We were given supervisory responsibility without the ability or authority of 
decision making.  Examples of the aforementioned include, but are not 
limited to: 

● Hiring: ​ Sarah Jane and Luis were both hired without any 
inclusion or input in the hiring process.  I have never witnessed an 
organization that places someone in a supervisory position, yet 
denies them input in the hiring process of individuals they are 
intended to Supervise.  

● Luis:​  I learned of Luis’ hiring on a public slack post.  In addition, 
the job position had only been posted one week prior to the 
announcement.  Based upon my experience going through the 
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Secure Democracy / VRL hiring process there is no way that it 
would be possible to complete that hiring process in less than 
one-week.  This was clearly a pre-negotiated deal made between 
Luis and Colin that flagrantly failed to observe the regular hiring 
process.   Since I was not part of the hiring process I am not able 
to confirm or deny what the hiring process took place, but I am 
skeptical that Luis was made to go through the same hiring 
process that the other women of color went through that included 
multiple rounds of interviews and a written assignment.   This 
appears to be continuation of preferential treatment made for 
former members of the Everytown Staff.  Luis was brought on as a 
full-time employee and not as a contractor or as a temporary 
position. Luis was also given the ability to continue to consult with 
Everytown for the next few months and this information was only 
provided to me after I raised the issue of Sarah Jane's work and 
Scope.  

● Sara Jane:  ​I was only notified of Sarah Jane’s hire a day or two 
before the announcement.   I was not included in the hiring 
process or given any information about her role, capacity or 
tenure.   I was told she would be consulting with us through this 
period.   In conversations with Sarah Jane I learned that there was 
an agreed upon scope of work and timeline.  I was not provided 
either piece of information.   Additionally, Sarah Jane informed us 
that she was going to continue to consult with her previous 
employer throughout this period and would not be available at 
certain times throughout the week.  Like Luis, Sarah Jane, is a 
former Everytown staffer who used to report to Colin.  It appears 
that there was no formal hiring process or consultant position 
posted.  I had assumed that Sarah Jane’s work as a consultant 
was being handled like many or our lobbyists and communications 
consultants.  Even if her employment was being handled as our 
lobbyist contract is - it is concerning that both of our validator 
outreach positions are being forced to go through one process, but 
former Everytown staff are not forced to go through any of our 
normal hiring processes.   Subsequently, I also found out that she 
is actually an employee and not a consultant.  I was only made 
aware of this arrangement when an approval/late timesheet 
request on Replicon was sent to me on behalf of Sarah Jane’s 
Timesheet.  I was never made aware that I would be approving 
her timesheets.  I reached out to Sarah Jane to ask her why her 
timesheet had not been submitted and she indicated that she was 
never onboarded and that no one had told her.  She also stated 
that she had never submitted her paperwork through Secure 
Democracy to get paid.  Colin never informed me that this was 
needed and failed to do any of this administrative work.  

● Sarah Jane & Luis -  ​When Sarah Jane and Luis were hired it 
served to further the belief among staff that the only people who 
trusted or respected within the organizational structures were from 
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Everytown.   This was bolstered by the facade of a hiring process 
and the move of Charley to Campaigns and Partnerships.  

● Charley - ​I was given no warning and was not included in the 
decision to move Charley from State Affairs to Campaigns and 
Partnerships.   Charley immediately reached out and asked if 
there was a problem with her performance.  Because I was not 
included in the decision making or the conversation despite the 
fact that I was supposed to be supervising her I was left with little 
to say except to convey the message to Charley.  Additionally, I 
am still not certain of the length and timeline of her reassignment 
or the reason behind the move.   Colin provided no coaching or 
training even prior to my assuming her “supervisory responsibility.” 
The only coaching and support offered to Charley throughout her 
tenure came at my request and suggestion to Colin that I go with 
her on her first trip to Kentucky to help her integrate into the 
organization and hear someone discuss the issues in a Secure 
Democracy frame.  

● Supervising Sarah Jane and Luis ​- Colin explicitly told me it was 
my responsibility to supervise Sarah Jane and Luis.  However, 
throughout the majority of their short tenure Colin would Slack with 
them privately, hold meetings without me, and did not share or 
communicate what was said.  Both Sarah Jane and Luis asked 
about how to handle this and discussed how it was redundant.  In 
addition, it made clear that I did not have supervisory authority and 
undermined my ability to perform my work.  

● Disparate Treatment Among Leadership Team + ​ MKD has 
approval authority in areas where the two women of color do not. 
This was recently highlighted in the Iowa Slack channel on June 6, 
regarding budget approval for Iowa patch through calls.  The 
conversations between Colin and I and Sam, Colin and I are in 
slack, but for me, this points to the ongoing lack of clarity and 
continuous confusion in our processes and lack of clear 
communication or guidance.   All of this evidenced by Colin’s 
response which indicated that he also did not know why MKD had 
approval authority and Soncia and I do not.  If the person I report 
to is not able to answer the question it is unreasonable to think 
that anyone who is not on LT understands the change and where 
approval authority lies within the organization.  For folks who are 
not in LT we are continuously held to a process that often our own 
managers are not able to articulate.  Second, without this 
understanding and perhaps even with the understanding the 
appearance is of racially disparate treatment among the 
leadership team +.  It appears the MKD was given approval 
authority and the trust and information to make those decisions 
while Soncia and I were not.  Additionally, MKD has always 
maintained some role of approval authority over other areas like 
“creative” on digital.  This is particularly weird because this was 
often within a tripod structure where both Soncia and I were part of 
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the tripod and MKD was not.   Hence, MKD is approving the work 
of two of her black and brown leadership team + peers.   One 
example, and there are others festooned through slack, is in the 
Arizona slack channel on April 24th during a discussion over 
digital ads. This is not the only case of this happening.  Another 
glaring example is found in private slack messages between MKD, 
Soncia and I.  MKD is sharing budget approval information.  None 
of this information was shared with us from LT.  In fact, I only 
learned that the Veterans Engagement position was approved 
when she shared it with me.  She asked us to add information 
about anticipated costs.  I tried and it was deleted.  This occurred 
on May 14th, prior to organization changes that resulted in 
elevating Christian.  Neither Soncia or I were ever privy to this kind 
of information yet Megan was privy to information about our 
budget approval before we were even notified.  
It is this kind of situation that creates ongoing frustrations and 
tensions within the organization and continues to alienate the 
POC.  Additional times where MKD was approving or weighing in 
on work of her Leadership Team + peers.  

○ AZ -​ MKD approving Creative Ads in a tripod with two LT+  
○ CT ​June 3rd Ping Colin and I once you are done 
○ FL ​- May 28th approving op-ed process 
○ IA​ - Asking question about path forward documents on 

April 17th; June 2nd approval of budget, June 6th approval 
of budget  

○ MI​ - MKD April 13th Michigan is acting as a defacto 
manager of Soncia and I in the MI tripod.  

○ MN ​- April 13th MN MKD is acting as an approver of my 
work product 

○ WI​ - Wisconsin May 7th MKD is included in all important 
communication whereas Soncia and I are left out even 
though we are supposed to be serving in the same 
function.  This is habitual.  

 
● Taking Credit For Others Work Product / Failure to Acknowledge Mistakes​ Colin 

has a pattern of taking credit for my work product and appropriating my ideas without 
credit or attribution.  This is made more problematic by the fact that he fails to 
acknowledge his own mistakes and then blames or scapegoats others.   This has been 
an ongoing issue, but recently came to a head after he (1) berated me on issues related 
to the FL and MN Polling, and (2) I spoke with Christian and Megan and both confirmed 
that he both took credit for my ideas and work products.   The result is that I am not able 
to trust that Colin will accurately represent my thoughts and concerns and or take 
responsibility for his own failures.  Below I offer some examples that demonstrate Colin’s 
patterns of appropriation and obfuscating of responsibility:  

 
○ Florida Poll Release & Poll Memo - ​Colin dropped the GOP consultant work on 

a Wednesday and expected me to schedule a meeting and get multiple polls 
placed in each state by the following week. He was particularly focused on 
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getting the FL poll out.  He encouraged me to pressure the consultants to work 
fast and get things out.  The problems with this scenario is that 1) this work was 
thrown at me with no warning and no information at the last minute (further 
documented below) and 2) that the work on the Florida memo had been sitting 
with Colin for over two weeks.   I had shared the FL poll and memo with colin 
over two weeks prior to this request.   On multiple occasions I slacked him about 
it privately, attempted to discuss the memo with him and posted it in public slack. 
Colin never acknowledged or reviewed the memo.   I specifically wanted to 
address the challenges with the FL memo and the partisan breakdown and the 
unique circumstances related to our pollster that would lead to possible issues in 
a release.  I had also shared that I thought one memo with partisan breakdowns 
may be shared privately with the Governor through our lobbyist and that the 
release poll should be different.  So for two weeks nothing.  Then I am urged to 
get this out the door within days.  Keep in mind that Colin had still not reviewed 
the florida memo or had a discussion with me.   So, I spend all weekend going 
back and forth fighting with the pollster and working with Marathon.  Colin 
approved everything and yet then after the story is complete I am criticized by 
Colin for the FL Memo.  To this day I am unclear why the GOP consultant work 
was dropped in my lap with no warning and why Colin failed to even look at the 
Florida polling memo until there was an urgent moment.  

○ Minnesota Poll - ​When the polling work related to Covid began Colin told me 
that I was going to be responsible for state polling.   I immediately flagged that 
MN needed to be a priority because of the timing of the legislative session.   I 
immediately get to work on the drafting polls with tripod input in the states 
identified as priorities.   When I am about to post them for review, Colin begins 
posting poll drafts including on for MN.  I immediately slacked him to inquire 
whether he was doing all of the polls because I was already working on many 
and did not want to duplicate efforts.  He apologized for not communicating this 
to me.  But, I must point out that my poll draft for MN had the witness signature 
requirement.   In addition, Colin wasted so much of my time and the tripod’s time 
working on drafts.   Moreover, at one point we were both talking to the same 
polling firm POS about polls because Colin never communicated that he was 
negotiating with them despite the fact that I posted their proposal.   So, I was 
shocked when Colin berated me for failing to catch the witness signature 
requirement since he 1) failed to tell me he was working on a poll for mn 2) my 
poll draft included it 3) he wrote and approved the MN poll.  

○ Conservative Talking Points Absentee Balloting-​ From the beginning of the 
Covid Crisis there has been an expressed need both internally and from our 
lobbyists for conservative talking points related to absentee balloting.  This has 
been discussed with Colin on countless occasions and expressed by multiple 
people.  I asked Colin if he would like me to take a stab at them.  He said that he 
had been working on something from a while ago and he would share it.  After 
multiple requests and multiple weeks he finally shares his “conservative 
braindump document.”  I immediately get to work editing it and adding current 
information and additional sections.  When I am done I ask about the next steps 
in the progress.  The work just sits there.  I had two conversations with Malia 
about this and she even expressed that Colin was not engaging.   To date, 
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despite effort from both Malia and I and a continued need, this work remains in 
limbo with no communication about the status or the path forward. 

○ Conservative Talking Points Voting Rights Restoration - ​When I joined 
SD/VRL many of my states were focused on Voting Rights Restoration.  The 
Republican and often very conservative lobbyists we hire had zero history or 
knowledge of VRR issues.  I immediately indicated a need for conservative 
talking points for our lobbyists.  I offered to do a first draft.  Colin insisted that he 
was doing them.  This was in November.  By the end of January nothing had 
been done despite a clear need.   Then one day in February Colin asks if I could 
do a first draft.  It was late in the week and I suggested that I get him a draft on 
monday.  He told me he was hoping that I would have it by the next day.  So, I 
wrote every bullet in a nearly 15 page document and shared them with Colin. 
The document proceeded to take multiple weeks to get approved and no 
acknowledgement that the entire document was created by me and dropped in 
my lap after Colin did not do anything.  Moreover, I could have had the document 
done in November and offered them to our lobbyists immediately.  Finally, the 
document is still not 100 percent complete and the promise was that we would 
finish off the remaining sections, but it has never happened.  

○ R-Street - ​Working with R-Street was my idea.  In fact, I had suggested a 
meeting with R-Street prior to Covid.  I suggested to Colin that he and I make 
time to meet with R-street while we were in NYC for our communications training. 
He responded with a great idea.   When I followed back up with him I received no 
response.   When Covid hit in one of his so called “thought partner” sessions, I 
suggested it again.  He pushed back and said he didn’t think they would be 
interested in absentee balloting.  I made the case that I thought they would and 
suggested reaching out.  I then heard nothing until one-day he told me they gave 
R-street a 100K grant to help with this work.  He never included me in the 
conversation and never acknowledged my idea.  I suspect he also never 
acknowledged that this was done at my suggestion and urging.  

○ GOP Consultants - ​Colin was supposed to add a section in the SD 
Veterans/EA’s/Crisis Management section for approval.   He never did.  The 
result is that this body of work did not go through the same scrutiny, was not 
shared broadly with staff and is still a mystery to most.  On multiple occasions 
Colin said he was filling out this section, but he never did.   Then out of the blue 
with literally no input, no information provided, and after he had hired the 
consultants and had the body of work for a month, he abruptly told me that he 
would like me to assume this work.  He tells me this on Wednesday and says I 
should call a meeting.  Wednesday afternoon I told him I will try to schedule a 
meeting with the almost 20 people early the next week.  He informs that this must 
happen before the end of the week and he wants polls for FL, MO, and other 
states out by the end of the following week. Despite the unrealistic timeline I get a 
meeting scheduled.  However, he told me nothing about the scope of work or 
agreements between each consultant.  So, I was ill-equipped to understand roles 
and responsibilities.   Here are a few examples that occurred over the following 
weeks: 

■ Marathon ​- Asking for a slush fund of 7-10 k per month 
■ Stateside​ - no understanding of their role or length of contract yet Colin is 

telling me to make sure they work 
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■ R-Street ​- Informing me that they only agreed to do 10 op-eds making it 
impossible for me to know which states to prioritize  

■ EIS - I am still unclear on how we ended up with two firms and how those 
buckets of work are separated.  

○ Consolidation of Polling Information in One Report - ​In another one of Colin’s 
“Thought Partnership” conversations when asked about how we can use the 
consultants and polling info I said, “I think the state polling and national polling 
sets us apart and can be used to help bolster our credibility, drive media stories 
and as a toll for advocates if we consolidate it into one presentation and perhaps 
put in on our website, I also said it would be a good tool to pitch broader national 
stories.  He said - great idea.   Then a week or two later I receive an email from 
Marathon with a first draft/mock up of my idea.   I was accidentally copied and 
Marathon even asked me on the phone if they were supposed to share that with 
me.  Clearly, Colin consciously kept me out of the loop to claim credit for my 
work.  To this day, Colin has not acknowledged that he is moving forward with my 
idea, has not included me in the process and has clearly not given me the 
attribution.  He has also told me to manage the GOP consultants but frequently 
works around me which creates ongoing confusion for me and the consultants.  

○ MI Consultant - ​When SA hired Jill Alper as a consultant I was opposed to 
bringing her on.  I expressed this in every way possible.  It seemed ludicrous 
because she 1) would not lobby and 2) already was working with Represent Us. 
Colin made it abundantly clear that he believed we needed additional support. 
So, her firm was hired and to this date has offered zero benefit.   I learned from 
Christian that Colin expressed that we were aligned.  We were never aligned, but 
at some point when your manager is telling you what he wants you get on board 
and make the best of it.   Given the dynamics of this hire and the fact that tripod 
was not included when I had my tripod meeting and informed them we had 
brought on Alper Strategies they were confused.  Soncia even remarked “what is 
the purpose of the tripod then.”  So, this put me in a difficult situation 1) because 
the hire was not necessary and I did not support it and the tripod had already 
aligned on this and 2) because people were not happy about the circumventing of 
the process when we are always told to follow the process.   So, we had a 
discussion about the pressure we felt to hire consultants and the fact that Colin 
really wanted to bring this consultant on in MI.  A few days later, I was lectured by 
Colin for undermining leadership in this conversation and told that it was not a 
good look and I should not say things like I disagree or Colin wanted this hire. 
This is confusing because since the tripod had already aligned on not needing 
another consultant at the moment and we had never discussed this firm or this 
hire I was put in an impossible situation.  Colin never discussed this with his 
counterparts so the information was shocking to the tripod.   Colin should own his 
decisions and not force tripods to act as though this happens in a vacuum.   This 
constant failure of Colin to own his own decision and actions creates confusion, 
undermines the tripod and places SA in a difficult position that leads to tripod 
toxicity.  

○ MI Drop Box Guidance - ​During our weekly Check-In I expressed to Colin that I 
had concerns about the MI drop box guidance. Luis had also expressed similar 
concerns.  He asked me to be specific and I articulated my concerns.  He was 
pulling up the document and agreed with everything I said.  I immediately 

9 

Case 1:22-cv-03312-APM   Document 12-1   Filed 04/21/23   Page 19 of 73



suggested that I thought this would be a good issue to flag for Liz and discuss the 
perspectives because I was worried that having Luis who was new to the org or 
me address them would create problems.   He insisted that Luis and I address 
the issue and again pushed me to both weigh in more and push Luis and Sarah 
Jane to do the same thing.  When, as I suspected, the feedback was not received 
well, rather than taking ownership of the fact that he should have flagged this for 
Liz, he proceeds to tell me that I should have been more clear in the request and 
timeline, despite the fact that the timeline was discussed on the tripod and Jiggy 
and Soncia both agreed that while we did not have specifics about timing that we 
should get this done ASAP.  We also discussed numerous aspects of the needs 
including the fact that the Sec of State was working with Vote at Home and had 
the federal guidance already.  Colin frequently asks SA to push back and be 
direct, but as soon as anyone raises it as a concern he then finds a way to blame 
his staff even though it was done at his request.  

 
● Veterans Outreach / Crisis Management Report / Election Administrator Plans ​-​ I 

was asked to create plans and anticipate the needs from the Secure Democracy 
perspective.  I wrote a plan that included 3 components: Election Administrator 
Engagement, Crisis Management and Veterans Engagement/Outreach.  This plan was 
originally supposed to layout work with Conservative Organizations and a strategy, but I 
was quickly told by Colin that he would complete that section.  That section remains to 
be completed.  If that plan exists it was not shared with me or widely within the 
organization.  My plan was written and distributed to leadership and the entire 
organization over 2 and half months ago.  

○ Veterans Outreach Consultant - ​I received little to no feedback on the 
Veteran’s Engagement Portion.  For many weeks the plan just sat there in the 
approval abyss.  No one told me whether it was approved or if revisions were 
needed.   It was not until MKD shared a budget approval document that Soncia 
and I had never shared that I saw that the Veterans Engagement Consultant 
position was approved.   I then slacked and chatted with Colin about the status. 
There was no response.  Then one day Colin says create a job description and 
scope of work ASAP.  He tells me this on Friday and I have a document for him 
within a few days.   Then the job description sat there and sat there without Colin 
ever even looking at the document.  I slacked Colin multiple times and then finally 
posted it for his approval in the SD Validator channel.   It still sat there and Colin 
still never opened the document.   The document sat there for more than three 
weeks without anyone doing anything with it.   We are now 3 months into Covid 
and a failure to communicate anything related to the approval of this position or 
the approval of the job description makes this work less timely and less relevant. 
Moreover, while I rushed to complete the plan and the job description/scope of 
work no one communicated the approval, provided feedback or bothered to look 
at either for weeks.    All of the aforementioned can be established through slack, 
documentation creation dating through google docs, documentation sharing 
dates and viewing in google docs, and private communications and my internal 
notes.  

○ Crisis Management Report - ​This portion of the report was 100% my idea.  I 
feel the need to state this because I have come to learn that Colin has a 
tendency to appropriate without credit ideas of mine and particularly women of 
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color without offering the source or genesis of the idea.   In the presentation of 
this portion to LT the feedback I received was met with skepticism.  I then heard 
nothing back about this or any portion of the plan.  Then one day, I receive a 
message from Soncia asking for clarification of what this report would 
encompass and how it would differ from the work Jiggy is doing with UCLA.   I 
ask Colin about this and he tells me that LT determined that this bucket of work 
should lie in L&P.  This seemed odd since it was part of the Secure Democracy 
recommendation of needs and ideas and the fact that to my knowledge I am the 
only person in this org who has created a crisis management plan, worked in 
management consulting and has a network of crisis managers in my network.  It 
was also clear that L&P did not see the value.   The end result was multiple 
back-and-forths with L&P to try and explain the value of this work.   Then I was 
asked to participate in the conversations with the group that Megan identified to 
help us find a management consultant. L&P was supposed to create a scope of 
work for this group to shop around.   L&P then asked me to edit it which 
essentially became an entire re-write.  This work, like so much other work now 
stands in limbo with no forward momentum and without any communication of its 
status.  

○ Elections Administrator Outreach - ​Part of my directive from Colin was to 
include a portion on how to conduct EA outreach and engagement.   This was 
particularly frustrating and baffling because this had been a body of work that 
Colin had fought to bring into the Secure Democracy and insisted on maintaining 
control of developing a plan despite my offer to take on this body of work months 
earlier.  Despite multiple offers to do this work and develop a plan Colin kept this 
work to himself.  Nothing was accomplished and no plan was developed.  Then, 
in this moment of COVID crisis, I am asked to develop the plan.  I wrote a plan 
that articulated that while the work is important it would be constrained by a 
number of factors: EA’s preparing for primaries and the general, lack of ability to 
do in person meetings, and the fact that they too are in crisis.  Colin repeatedly 
pushed back on my concerns and told me to add more and suggest broader EA 
engagement.  So, I added more despite my reluctance.  When we presented this 
work to LT, Megan pushed back on this portion of the document saying that she 
did not believe it was realistic and was too broad.   Colin sat on that phone call 
and never acknowledged that I had said everything that Megan had and had 
pushed for a scaled back more realistic approach.  He then told me to rewrite it 
and we scheduled two additional review meetings both of which were abruptly 
cancelled with no explanation from Colin.  To this day, I have no understanding of 
why the meetings were cancelled, whether this body of work was approved and 
what/if any work expectations exist regarding this work.   I have asked Colin 
multiple times in slack and on the phone regarding the status.  What happened 
with the Election Administrator Outreach plan is indicative of a pattern of 
management, lack of communication and being told to assume Colin’s work that 
he failed to complete (i.e. Gop Consultants, Path Forward Documents, 
Conservative Talking points on absentee voting, Conservative Talking points on 
VRR).  
 

● Speaking Up​ - ​Throughout my time at Secure Democracy / VRL Colin has often told me 
to “Speak Up.”  It is so frequent that most people in the organization have commented to 
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me about how weird and inappropriate this repeated request from Colin to have me 
“Speak Up.”  This is particularly baffling because no one else thinks that I do not speak 
up.   Additionally, anyone who knows the slightest bit about my personal and 
professional background - as all of the leadership team does - is well aware that 
speaking up and raising my voice has been central to my identity and work.  My long 
history of speaking up includes, but is not limited to: speaking out about Sexual 
Harassment at the MN State Capitol, serving as a spokesperson for MN United, weekly 
television and radio appearance for nearly a decade, and being an outspoken advocate 
for criminal justice reform.   Nearly every current and past Associate Director has 
expressed that this is offensive and troubling.  In addition, I have discussed this with 
Christian who agreed that this was patronizing and acknowledged that I do not seem to 
have a problem with speaking up.  This was patronizing to me as a woman and as a 
person of color.  It also appears to be an explicit attempt to use my voice as women of 
color to support his positions that often ran counter to larger organization wide 
consensus.   When I spoke up at times that did support a position of Colins or ran 
counter to his interests I was scolded.  One example of this is when I posted about the 
lack of process clarity to the public slack channel and indicated that I felt gas-lighted by 
the lack of clarity in the process that we were being held accountable for following. 
Colin called me and told me not to post such things because it created organizational 
drama.  The reality is that the organizational drama was created by the lack of articulated 
and ever changing process.   When Sam quickly responded with processes to follow 
Colin slacked me and told me I needed to thank Sam.  I am appreciative of peoples work 
and try to always acknowledge and thank people for their effort, but this seemed 
particularly weird that I was being told to thank someone for providing me the most basic 
tools to do the job I was asked for and to articulate the process for which me and others 
in the tripods were being held accountable for following.  Not only do I have a long 
history of speaking up in terribly uncomfortable circumstances, but I cannot think of time 
in this organization where I was timid about speaking my thoughts.  The only exception 
to this is regarding my concerns about Colin’s management and that was for fear of 
retaliation from my manager.  
 

● Campaign Plans ​- ​The pressure and confusion about campaign plans continues.  
○ Direction for SA to Push Other Tripod Members - ​Colin continues to insist that 

this work be driven by State Affairs despite the fact that C&P and L&P still seem 
to operate under different, more collaborative guidance.   When SA is pushed 
and tries to take ownership over the campaign plans at Colin’s direction it creates 
hostility and confusion within the tripod.  I have asked for him to post this publicly 
so that all divisions represented on the tripod had an understanding.  He has 
refused to do so.  I have asked him multiple times to address this with the 
leadership team.  When SA pushes hard it gives an impression that we are 
managing the other members of the tripod.  I have told Colin that when this 
happens it is extremely problematic because we are at the same level as the 
other members of tripod and that direction or pushback needs to come from their 
director.  This problem has been ongoing since I began my employment with 
SD/VRL.  Since Luis and Sarah Jane have joined the SA team I have listened as 
Colin gives them the directive to essentially take over the process and push hard. 
A recent example involves L&P’s request to participate in lobbyist phone calls. 
Colin told us he did not agree with this decision and pushed back hard and to 
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only do it if it makes sense.   Yet, in the meantime it is clear from my private slack 
messages with Soncia that L&P has given very different guidance.   None of this 
is discussed publicly so all SA can do is follow the direction of their Director.  This 
issue has been ongoing and months earlier Colin expressly told me not to include 
others on the lobbyist calls.  There is no clear direction or expressed intent from 
Leadership and this results in ongoing tensions and confusion amongst the 
tripod.  

○ Process is too Slow Fails to Acknowledge Timelines​ - The process of 
approval and submission are not relevant at this moment.  Even prior to the 
unexpected week off I had pointed out that the campaign plans for many states 
would be irrelevant by the time they were presented.   A few examples include 
TN and IA.  This work is ongoing.  The schedule for these plans made no sense 
because the campaign was already happening and the length of their legislative 
session - 2 weeks - meant that by the time they were reviewed, approved or 
amended the opportunity would be over.  

 
● Gop Consultants Ethical Breach / Potential Illicit Activity ​- ​ On June 3, 2020 I sent 

the following communication via email to the entire leadership team.  
“I no longer feel that I can ethically or legally be responsible for the day-to-day 
management of this work.   As someone who has spent the last 15 years of her 
life working in politics and with extensive PR experience, I have never been 
forced to confront or be complicit in such unethical behavior related to providing 
“under the table” or “off the record” payments to media or validators.  I had hoped 
that perhaps it was just Marathon acting unethically, but in our morning 
conversation the other day you confirmed that EIS was similarly requesting 
payments for the former FL congressman.  Perhaps I am being naive, but I need 
to be 100 percent clear that I believe this activity to be completely unethical and 
antithetical to the espoused values of the organization and that it is at best 
unambiguously unethical and at worst illegal.  

 
Ray from Marathon asked me for a slush fund of 7-10k to place stories for off the 
record payments.  He indicated that he had spoken with you and Megan about 
this and believed that you had a pre-established understanding.  When I asked 
you about this - you said that we would not do a slush fund, but that I should 
evaluate each case (meaning offer to pay people under the table for stories or 
validator work) as a one off.  We have now engaged in this at a minimum of twice 
once for EIS (1K) and once for Marathon (2,500K).  Since I raised these 
concerns yesterday you have apologized for putting me in this position.  I 
appreciate the acknowledgement that it was completely inappropriate to place 
me this compromised position.  However, it does not just compromise me, it 
compromises the integrity of our organization and our values.  You have also 
said that the leadership team signed off these decisions.  You have 
acknowledged that while they signed off they may have erred in their judgement. 
If all of the leadership team approved these payments leadership must take 
accountability not only to me, but to the organization as a whole.   I am not able 
to continue to manage this work until:  
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● The leadership team owns this decision and assures me that no 
payments will be made to or through our consultants for “under the 
table” payments. This means I must hear from leadership that my 
concerns have been heard; 

● The Leadership team acknowledges the error in judgement internally to 
the organization and; 

● We end our relationships with the consultants who have urged us - and 
continue to urge us to participate in this unethical and possibly criminal 
behavior.  

 
It is unfair and unreasonable for me alone to hold this information and for the 
organizational leadership to not own any accountability.   I am unaware of how 
these payments were made or handled, so I am not sure if there was illicit 
financial transactions from our end and I refuse to be held accountable for 
anything that may be compromising.  It must also be stated that these actions are 
harmful and undermining to everyone in the organization not only because they 
are unethical, but because of the standard of work product that is expected 
across the organization.  While others work to tirelessly find validators and place 
op-ed, your perceived success in doing so is not actual success; it is, in fact, 
pay-to-play in the most obvious manner.  

 
You have also offered to speak with the GOP Communications consultants to 
inform them that this will no longer happen.  While this is important, I question 
how we can trust their work and how I am expected to return to managing their 
work.  How am I supposed to know that this is not continuing directly through us 
or indirectly through them?  My conversations with Marathon made it abundantly 
clear that this is not an isolated exception, but is rather a way of doing business. 
As an African American woman I am particularly sensitive to any potential 
perception of illicit or unethical behavior. 

 
The issues in question are not minor oversights, they are fundamental questions 
that go to the heart of organizational integrity.  This is not something that can or 
should be hidden.  This is not something that can wait to be addressed.  My hope 
is that this will be addressed by the end of the week. 

 
An organization that is not accountable to itself loses its ability to hold others 
accountable.  We acquiesce the moral high-ground. “ 

 
Over the last few days I have discussed this matter with Christian, Colin and Megan. 
An agreement has been made to fire Marathon and continue to use EIS for validator 
work.  It has also been agreed that the leadership team will share what happened with 
the entire organization.  This internal sharing of this is important because among the 
things that trouble me in this dynamic is the fact that almost exclusively black and brown 
women are being told to do more and do it faster.  Some have expressed doubt in 
themselves as they have seen the work from the GOP consultants begin to materialize. 
This is what creates doubts among black and brown people and creates the Imposter 
phenomena.  
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● Tripods​ - ​The tripod system of organization has become toxic.  Much of this toxicity 
stems from a lack of overall organizational alignment in our approach to this work.  Most 
often L&P and C&P are aligned while S&A often holds different perspectives.  While 
some of this normal organizational jockeying for power I would propose that a great deal 
of the lack of alignment stems from Colin.  Colin consistently and forcefully expresses his 
disagreement with L&P and C&P and insists that SA forcefully express our opinions. 
This directive is made clearly despite multiple attempts for me to express the negative 
impact of this dynamic.   Perhaps even more concerning is that when I am pushed by 
Colin to express his intent and then the tripod pushes back on the directive and asks me 
if Colin made me do this - if I even remotely acknowledge that I am receiving instructions 
from Colin - I am then scolded by Colin for not owning the decision.   I have been told not 
to acknowledge that Colin is driving some of the decisions even if I do not agree and I 
have been told by Colin that I am undermining LT if and when I state his direction.   This 
is confusing.  If Colin and/or LT are comfortable with a decision why would they care if it 
is acknowledged.  Why not own the decision and ensure that everyone on the tripod 
receives the same information.  What I have come to realize is that it is often Colin’s 
personal position and not a unanimous understanding or directive from all of LT.  This 
leads to toxicity in the tripod and confusion about LT’s alignment.  
 

● Digging into States​ -​ I was told to dig into my states and it was clearly implied that I 
was not doing enough.  Colin expressly stated to me, “now, with fewer states maybe this 
will allow you to do more.”   This was baffling to me for the following reasons: (1) my 
states are moving in the right direction with real opportunities to pass legislation (2) I 
have repeatedly expressed to Colin and others in LT that I can handle more work, and 
(3) his basis for saying this to me were based on his erroneous claims that I had 
mishandled the MN poll and Fl poll release.  Furthermore, to date I have not received a 6 
month review or any feedback that was negative.  I have received no coaching and 
almost no guidance.  Below are brief outlines of where my state work lies:  

○ Nebraska ​- Despite being a red state with an extremely conservative Sec of 
State and Gov - the actions taken to protect the elections were as close to our 
recommendations as one could possibly expect, I was able to directly 
communicate with the Deputy Sec of State and our bill that we had been working 
on prior to Covid is still likely to pass when the legislature returns.  

○ Florida​ - From the creation of the path forward documents I have always 
indicated that this work was going to primarily be working with the Gov and the 
Florida Supervisors of Elections.  This has turned out to be true.  We have been 
in direct conversations with both the Governor’s office and the FSE’s.   The FSE 
lobbyist communicates with me directly.   While this work is still in progress I 
believe we have done everything we can to influence a possible Executive Order.  

○ Michigan ​-  We originally entered MI to help pass the ballot processing bill.  The 
bill is slated to pass.  We were barely engaged when Covid hit and when this 
work began we had not had a single legislative meeting.   We are submitting 
drop-box guidance and are developing on the ground relationships.  I expressed 
in the path forward document and to Colin that we may need different lobbying 
support given the change in our goals and potential conflicts of interest.  Luis has 
taken over this work and is not initiating this change.   Additionally, the Sec of 
State and Gov have been and continue to be supportive of almost all of the 
changes we put forth in policy recommendations.  
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○ Tennessee ​-  We are actively placing and boosting stories, doing patch through 
calls, and are doing what we can with very limited support within the states. 
Colin has not offered any suggestions to bolster this work.   TN is also one of the 
most challenging states for our work because Colin left the tripod with extremely 
toxic relationships with the partners.  Their disdain for Colin and Secure 
Democracy is openly expressed and spills into all of our attempts to do work.  

○ Iowa​ - Despite all of the uncertainty regarding Covid and the timing of the 
session we have been engaged in an active campaign, have been supporting 
both conservative and progressive partners, have had a faith leader op-ed 
published, had a conservative op-ed published and have moved the voting rights 
bill through the Senate Judiciary where it died the last session.  We have 
engaged the Governor and Legislative leadership and already have the 
implementing language through the legislature and signed by the governor - all 
within a two-three week session.  

○ Arizona​ -  AZ as was acknowledged in our path forward document discussion is 
a particularly difficult state to make progress given the Governor, the legislature 
and the fact that over 70% of Arizonians already use PEVL.  There was also 
huge uncertainty about whether the legislature would reconvene and whether 
they will return for a special session.   Only much later in the process did we 
begin discussing county level work.   Since this time, Luis has taken over the AZ 
work.  

○ Connecticut - ​We are actively engaging the Sec of State and Governor’s office 
on both voting rights restoration and expansions of absentee balloting. We are 
working with the coalition and were essential in getting the Governor to issue an 
EO for the primary.   We are now running boosted posts, assisting with op-eds, 
have had R-street write in support of absentee balloting, finished a poll and are 
waiting on the timing of the legislature to reconvene.  

○ Minnesota ​- This work was late to start despite numerous requests in slack and 
on the phone urging Colin to engage earlier.  By the time we hired a lobbyist the 
bill was being heard the next day which limited our ability to influence the 
strategy.  Nevertheless, until the killing of George Floyd, the Governor was 
openly discussing and tweeting his support for expanding absentee voting and 
protecting the health of Minnesotans.  Given recent dynamics in MN this work is 
more or less on hold for the foreseeable future.  

○ Virginia ​- This work is more future focused, but we have been in communication 
and are actively working with the voting rights coalition.  
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From: Megan DeSmedt megan.desmedt@votingrightslab.org
Subject: following up on your message

Date: October 28, 2021 at 10:52 AM
To: Sarah Walker sarah@secure-democracy.org
Cc: Anthony Dale anthony@votingrightslab.org

Hi Sarah,

I am just following up on your message inquiring about our policies or practices that allow individuals to opt for part time work, as full-
time employees.

Anthony will follow-up and help get answers to your questions. Pasting them here for ease.

- Specifically is this an option made available to any full-time employee who has a
documentable health concern? 
- At what point does someone in a full-time position opt for disability vs be afforded the
opportunity for half-time work with benefits?  I understand that these can tricky questions,
but once we make one determination I want to make sure the same benefits are
distributed equitably and consistently throughout the organization.

Megan DeSmedt
Hiring & Onboarding Director
megan.desmedt@votingrightslab.org | 267-574-2200
she/her/hers
******Please check out our current openings here! 

Our freedom to vote is under attack. VRL’s State Voting Rights Tracker is a first-of-its-kind, dynamic tool that lets you 
examine election bills moving quickly in all 50 states. Check it out now: tracker.votingrightslab.org
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11/18/21, 2:48 PM Replicon - Team - Timesheet - Cook, Kay (kalynncook) (2021-3-16)

https://na8.replicon.com/newventurefund/team/timesheets/kalynncook/2021-3-16 1/2

Time Distribution

Activity Advocacy Type Advocacy Activity State Tue 16 Wed 17 Thu 18 Fri 19 Sat 20 Sun 21 Mon 22

Total Hours 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 0.00 0.00 4.00

Administrative

Program

Time Off Tue 16 Wed 17 Thu 18 Fri 19 Sat 20 Sun 21 Mon 22

Floating Holiday              

Activity Advocacy Type Advocacy Activity State Tue 23 Wed 24 Thu 25 Fri 26 Sat 27 Sun 28 Mon 29

Total Hours 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 0.00 0.00 4.00

Administrative

Program

Time Off Tue 23 Wed 24 Thu 25 Fri 26 Sat 27 Sun 28 Mon 29

Floating Holiday             4.00

Activity Advocacy Type Advocacy Activity State Tue 30 Wed 31 Total

Total Hours 4.00 4.00 48.00  

1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00

1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00

Cook, Kay (kalynncook) Mar 16, 2021 - Mar 31, 2021
Not Submitted Due on Mar 31, 2021
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11/18/21, 2:48 PM Replicon - Team - Timesheet - Cook, Kay (kalynncook) (2021-3-16)

https://na8.replicon.com/newventurefund/team/timesheets/kalynncook/2021-3-16 2/2

Activity Advocacy Type Advocacy Activity State Tue 30 Wed 31 Total

Total Hours 4.00 4.00 48.00  

Administrative 11.00 


Program 33.00 


Time Off Tue 30 Wed 31 Total

Floating Holiday     4.00

Approval History

Date Action User Comments

Apr 1, 2021 8:25 am Submitted Cook, Kay (kalynncook)

Apr 1, 2021 8:26 am Approved Walker, Sarah Approved SCW

Nov 17, 2021 2:40 pm Reopened < System > (on behalf of Steinberg,
Gideon)

Time off hours were recalculated due
to a change in the user's schedule.

1.00 1.00

3.00 3.00




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From: Sarah Decarpentrie sdecarpentrie@lubetzky.org
Subject: RE: Contact information

Date: January 6, 2021 at 1:33 PM
To: Sarah Walker sarah@secure-democracy.org
Cc: Megan Lewis megan@votingrightslab.org

Sarah – Thank you so much for your help here! We so appreciate it.
 
Very best,
Sarah
 
From: Sarah Walker <sarah@secure-democracy.org> 
Sent: Wednesday, January 6, 2021 2:30 PM
To: Sarah Decarpentrie <sdecarpentrie@lubetzky.org>
Cc: Megan Lewis <megan@votingrightslab.org>
Subject: Re: Contact information
 
Hi Sarah, 
 
Here is the email address for Ryan Anderson, the top assistant and adviser to our AG,
Mark Brnovich:
ryan.anderson@azag.gov
 
I apologize for the delay!
 
Sarah
 
On Mon, Dec 21, 2020 at 10:36 AM Sarah Decarpentrie <sdecarpentrie@lubetzky.org>
wrote:

Thank you both!
 
From: Megan Lewis <megan@votingrightslab.org> 
Sent: Monday, December 21, 2020 11:36 AM
To: Sarah Decarpentrie <sdecarpentrie@lubetzky.org>; Sarah Walker <sarah@secure-
democracy.org>
Subject: Re: Contact information
 
Hey Sarah! We don't generally work with the federal judiciary, so unfortunately will not
be much help there. On the Arizona AG, I'm cc'ing Sarah Walker, our VP of Advocacy
who might be able to find a good email address for AG Brnovich!
 
Thanks so much -- and we are looking forward to circling back with your team in
January.
 
Best,
 
Megan
 

---------- Forwarded message ---------
From: Sarah Decarpentrie <sdecarpentrie@lubetzky.org>
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From: Sarah Decarpentrie <sdecarpentrie@lubetzky.org>
Date: Mon, Dec 21, 2020 at 11:10 AM
Subject: Contact information
To: Megan Lewis <megan@votingrightslab.org>
 

Hi Megan: I hope this finds you well. Daniel is hoping to connect with the following
people via email, in order to thank them and express admiration for their roles in the
election, and so that their courage over the past month doesn’t go unnoticed. Would
you happen to have their email addresses?
 

Stephanos Bibas: Third Circuit Court of Appeals in Philadelphia
Mark Brnovich: AZ Attorney General
Judge Steven D. Grimberg, US District Court Judge (GA)
Judge Matthew W. Brann – Federal Judge, PA

Thanks so much,
Sarah
 
Sarah S. Décarpentrie
Chief of Staff
SDecarpentrie@Lubetzky.org
C: 336.772.2640

 

 
--
 
 
Sarah Walker
Vice President of Advocacy
Secure Democracy
612-220-2070
sarah@secure-democracy.org
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From: Megan Lewis megan@votingrightslab.org
Subject: Re: Voting Law deep dives

Date: April 20, 2021 at 11:36 AM
To: Sarah Decarpentrie sdecarpentrie@lubetzky.org, Sarah Walker sarah@secure-democracy.org
Cc: Michael Johnston mjohnston@lubetzky.org

Hey Sarah and Michael! I am introducing you again to Sarah Walker, our VP of Advocacy. In addition to leading our in-state and
federal legislative advocacy efforts, Sarah leads all of our Republican and conservative outreach, has been building our corporate
outreach program as well, and will be a wealth of information on our Georgia, Texas, and HR1/S1 efforts. 

I'll leave it to you all to connect in the next day or two. Thank you, Sarah (Decarpentrie) and Michael for your continued attention to
and deep interest in our work. We are super grateful!

Best,

Megan

On Tue, Apr 20, 2021 at 12:49 PM Sarah Decarpentrie <sdecarpentrie@lubetzky.org> wrote:

Hi Megan – Is there someone on your team that you could connect us with who could share some time with us to do a deep dive on
the GA and TX Voting Laws as well as HR1 and S1?

 

Thanks so much,

Sarah

 

Sarah S. Décarpentrie

Chief of Staff

SDecarpentrie@Lubetzky.org

C: 336.772.2640
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From: Sarah Walker sarah@secure-democracy.org
Subject: Re: Brad

Date: April 29, 2021 at 7:40 AM
To: Sally Kilpatrick skilpatrick@cgagroup.com

Great

Sarah Walker
Executive Director  
Secure Democracy
612-220-2070

On Apr 29, 2021 at 7:28 AM, <Sally Kilpatrick> wrote:

Thanks! I’ll call him back and get him to email me the details. 

Sally Kilpatrick
Principal | Government Affairs
D 770.627.7501   M 404.805.6363

On Apr 29, 2021, at 8:25 AM, Sarah Walker <sarah@secure-democracy.org> wrote:

Let me check!!  I am sure Daniel Lubetskey would be willing.  I am also meeting with a bunch of big donors like the Koch's in two
weeks.  So I will see what I can do.  Do you have information for donations or fundraising that I can share?

On Thu, Apr 29, 2021 at 7:07 AM Sally Kilpatrick <skilpatrick@cgagroup.com> wrote:
Hey!
Brad called about his fundraiser. Are there any donors of yours that want to give to him?

Sally Kilpatrick
Principal | Government Affairs
D 770.627.7501   M 404.805.6363

-- 

Sarah Walker
Executive Director 
Secure Democracy
sarah@secure-democracy.org
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without reasonable accommodation, can perform the essential functions of the employment 
position that the individual holds or for which she/he has applied. 

• “Reasonable accommodation” may (depending on individual circumstances) include the 
following: making existing facilities readily accessible to and usable by individuals with 
disabilities; restructuring a job; instituting part-time or modified work schedules; reassigning 
the individual to a vacant position; acquiring or modifying equipment or devices; adjusting or 
modifying training materials, or policies, and similar activities. 

• “Undue hardship” means an action requiring significant difficulty or expense by the employer. 
The factors to be considered in determining an undue hardship include: (1) the nature and 
cost of the accommodation; (2) the overall financial resources of the project; (3) the number 
of persons employed by the project; (4) the effect on expenses and resources or other impact 
upon the project; and (5) the operations of the particular project. Other factors may be taken 
into consideration.  

• “Essential job functions” refers to those activities of a job that are essential to the purpose for 
which the position exists and cannot be modified. 

 
BREAK TIME FOR NURSING MOTHERS 
In accordance with the Fair Labor Standards Act, NVF projects will provide reasonable break time and 
accommodations to employees to express breast milk for nursing children. NVF projects will provide 
a private, shielded place other than a restroom in which an employee may express milk. NVF projects 
will also comply with any local or state law that may provide for reasonable accommodation for 
pregnant or breastfeeding employees in the locality in which such employee works. Employees who 
are lactating should reach out to their supervisor, project director, or NVF HR to discuss break times 
and the accommodations provided at their project workplace.  
 
WHISTLEBLOWER POLICY 
NVF requires its directors, employees, and contractors to observe high standards of business and 
personal ethics when conducting their duties and responsibilities. In accordance with this 
whistleblower policy, it is the responsibility of all directors, employees, and contractors to report any 
activities or practices that may be illegal, could result in harm to NVF or its projects, or may be contrary 
to NVF’s policies, including violations related to: 

• Accounting controls and procedures 
• Child protection 
• Confidential or proprietary information 
• Conflicts of interest 
• Equal employment opportunity 
• Fraud 
• Harassment 
• Legal compliance 

NO RETALIATION 
No employee or contractor who, in good faith, reports a violation shall suffer harassment, retaliation, 
or adverse employment consequences. An employee or contractor who retaliates against someone 
who has reported a violation in good faith is subject to disciplinary action, up to and including 
termination. This policy is intended to encourage and enable stakeholders to promptly raise serious 
concerns to NVF.  

REPORTING VIOLATIONS 
All leaders and directors within NVF encourage employees or contractors to share their questions, 

Case 1:22-cv-03312-APM   Document 12-1   Filed 04/21/23   Page 39 of 73



 
 

NVF EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK APRIL 2019 
PAGE 26 OF 54 

 
  

concerns, suggestions, or complaints. In most cases, the project director is in the best position to 
address an area of concern for an employee or contractor. However, if an employee or contractor is 
not comfortable speaking with the project director or is not satisfied with the project director’s 
response, the employee or contractor is encouraged to speak with the director of human resources, 
an account manager, or anyone in a management position with whom he/she is comfortable 
approaching. All managers are required to report suspected violations to NVF’s general counsel, who 
has specific and exclusive responsibility to investigate all reported violations. For suspected fraud, or 
when an employee or contractor is not satisfied or is uncomfortable with following NVF’s open door 
policy, individuals should contact NVF’s general counsel directly.  
 
For violations related to harassment or child protection, please also refer to the specific sections of 
this handbook related to harassment and child protection for additional guidance. 

GENERAL COUNSEL 
NVF’s general counsel, or such other disinterested individual as is appointed by the general counsel, 
is responsible for investigating and resolving all reported complaints and allegations concerning 
violations and, at his/her discretion, shall so advise NVF’s board of directors. All claims should be 
directed to generalcounsel@newventurefund.org.  

ACCOUNTING AND AUDITING MATTERS 
The board of directors shall address all reported concerns or complaints regarding NVF’s accounting 
practices, internal controls or auditing. The general counsel shall immediately notify the president and 
board of directors of any such complaint and work with the appropriate parties until the matter is 
resolved.  

ACTING IN GOOD FAITH 
Anyone who files a complaint concerning a violation or suspected violation must act in good faith, 
having reasonable grounds for believing the information disclosed indicates a violation.  

CONFIDENTIALITY 
Violations or suspected violations may be submitted on a confidential basis by the complainant or may 
be submitted anonymously directly to: 

General Counsel 
NVF 
1201 Connecticut Avenue, NW 
Suite 300  
Washington, DC 20036  
 

Reports of violations or suspected violations will be kept confidential to the extent possible, consistent 
with the need to conduct an adequate investigation.  

HANDLING OF REPORTED VIOLATIONS 
The general counsel will acknowledge receipt of the reported violation or suspected violation within 
five business days. All reports will be promptly investigated, and appropriate corrective action will be 
taken if warranted by the investigation.  
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12/18/21, 8:36 AM Gmail - From the Secure Democracy board of directors

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ik=6fd5cdc247&view=pt&search=all&permmsgid=msg-f%3A1715416163220111044&simpl=msg-f%3A1715416163220111044 1/1

Sarah Walker <sarahcwalker@gmail.com>

From the Secure Democracy board of directors


Heather Smith <heather@alliedadvisors.us> Wed, Nov 3, 2021 at 9:05 AM
To: Sarah Walker <sarahcwalker@gmail.com>, Megan Lewis <megan@votingrightslab.org>, anthony@votingrightslab.org
Cc: "Joseph E. Sandler" <sandler@sandlerreiff.com>, Ryan Else <Ryancelse@gmail.com>

Sarah, Megan and Anthony:

The Board of Directors of Secure Democracy was not made aware of any of the actions taken with respect to Sarah Walker before
they were taken.  Megan had no legal authority to put Sarah on administrative leave. No authorization to do so was sought or
received from the Board.  The Board’s obligation is to ensure that Secure Democracy as an organization is protected legally and can
continue to operate to carry out its mission, while the various allegations are appropriately investigated and resolved.

Accordingly, the Board:
1. Confirms that Sarah remains the Executive Director of Secure Democracy and is not on leave of any kind.
2. Requires that Megan, Anthony and all of those with whom they work at Voting Rights Lab or elsewhere immediately restore

Sarah’s access to her email account, Google drive and corporate credit card and cease any other form of interference with the
operations of Secure Democracy.

3. Requires that Megan, Anthony and all of those with whom they work at Voting Rights Lab or elsewhere immediately refrain from
accessing Sarah’s mail account.

4. Intends to have an independent investigation of Sarah’s allegations promptly conducted by an outside firm, which will also
interview and obtain information from everyone else involved in this dispute.

If you have any questions at all concerning the above, please contact us.

Sincerely,
Heather Smith, on behalf of the board of directors
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1828 L Street, NW, Suite 300A, Washington, DC 20036 

Mr. Joseph Sandler 
Sandler, Reiff, Lamb, Rosenstein & Birkenstock, P.C 
1090 Vermont Ave. NW Suite 750 
Washington, DC 20005 
VIA EMAIL (sandler@sandlerreiff.com) 
 
 
November 5, 2021 
 

Re: Secure Democracy 
 
Dear Joe: 
 
In response to communications and emails that we have received from Heather Smith, President of Secure 
Democracy, and Sarah Walker, Executive Director of Secure Democracy, I want to confirm the steps New 
Venture Fund has taken to respond to specific concerns raised.  This is not intended to be a comprehensive 
response, and is largely confined to addressing emails received on November 3rd and 4th regarding access 
to Secure Democracy’s email and related accounts.  

 
1. As of November 4th, 2021, Sarah’s access to her Secure Democracy email account, Google drive 

and corporate credit card has been restored.  We regret any inconvenience caused and have worked 
promptly to address these requests as soon as they were received.  If there are any similar requests 
that have not been resolved, I would ask that you please direct them to my attention and we will 
review them promptly. 

2. As of November 4th, Voting Rights Lab staff have been instructed to take all reasonable steps to 
cease communications with Secure Democracy staff and consultants and to refrain from 
interactions with Secure Democracy generally.  Given the historical relationship between Voting 
Rights Lab and Secure Democracy, we cannot ensure that there will be no communications 
between and among staff.  Further, to the extent that an individual is employed by both Secure 
Democracy and Voting Rights Lab, Voting Rights Lab staff may, of course, communicate with 
Voting Rights Lab staff about Voting Rights Lab and other matters not related to Secure 
Democracy.  In the short term, we look forward to working together to institute additional 
procedures if necessary.     

3. To this end, again in the short term, we ask that individual staff and consultants (in their capacity 
with Secure Democracy) similarly refrain from contacting New Venture Fund/Voting Rights Lab 
staff and that any contacts are made through counsel.   

4. With respect to other issues and concerns raised in emails and communications, New Venture Fund 
has undertaken an internal process with counsel to review them.  Again, we are committed to a 
constructive and collaborative process for moving forward to address these issues to allow both 
Voting Rights Lab and Secure Democracy to advance their important work and missions. 

 
Sincerely 

 
 

Andrew Schulz, 
General Counsel 
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Jennifer Hoffpauir

From: Sarah Walker <sarahcwalker@gmail.com>
Sent: Monday, November 22, 2021 8:23 AM
To: Zeke DeRose; K. Lawson Pedigo; Jennifer Hoffpauir
Subject: Update

Good Morning Jennifer, Lawson and Zeke, 
 
This weekend I learned that the C4 did not suspend my email account.  The C3 NVF/VRL are claiming ownership of the 
domain so google has suspended my access while it is investigated.  It seems strange that NVF/VRL would want to claim 
ownership over the C4 domain and electronic assets given the issues I raised.   
 
I am in Guatemala and will be in and out of service area for the remainder of the week, but should have 
electronic access in the evenings. Call if you need anything. 
 
I hope everyone has a wonderful Thanksgiving.  
 
Sarah  
612‐220‐2070 
 
‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐ Forwarded message ‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐ 
From: Google Workspace Support <workspacesupport@google.com> 
Date: Sat, Nov 20, 2021 at 6:07 PM 
Subject: Google Workspace Support 36488927: Rouge child case for 36455937 
To: sarah@secure‐democracy.org <sarah@secure‐democracy.org> 
 

 

�
�

 

Hello Sarah,�
�
Hope this email finds you well. My name is Kubra from Google Workspace Support. I 
am reaching out to you on behalf of my colleague Anuroop.�
�
I am contacting you to let you know that another user is claiming ownership of secure-
democracy.org. As per the Google Workspace terms of service 
'https://workspace.google.com/terms/premier_terms.html' domain ownership is a 
requirement for Google Workspace services. Google Cloud Support has revoked your 
administrative privileges while ownership of the domain is under debate. �
�
Within seven days, you must successfully complete the actions listed below in order to 
prove ownership. If you fail to do so, you will not be granted administrative access to 
your Google Workspace account or any assets associated with it: user accounts, 
domains, Gmail content, Google Drive data, Google Cloud Platform projects, YouTube 
channel(s), Google Play developer account, etc.�
�
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This change on your Google Workspace account implies loss of administrative 
privileges to all assets associated within the Google Workspace account.�
�
If you no longer own this domain, you have terminated the agreement with Google 
Workspace. �
�
If you still own the primary domain name - secure-democracy.org, please reply to this 
message as soon as possible and provide us with proof of your ownership. �
�
You can provide proof of domain ownership for your primary domain secure-
democracy.org by following the steps below:�

1. Create the following CNAME record through your domain hosting 
provider:36488927.secure-democracy.org points to google.com �
�
Create a CNAME record through your domain hosting provider:�
�
- Label/Host: 36488927�
�
- Destination/Target: google.com�
�
- Time to live (TTL): 3600 seconds / 60 minutes / 1 Hour�
�
For more information on how to create a CNAME record, please visit 
https://support.google.com/a/answer/47283. If you need assistance creating the 
CNAME record, please contact your hosting provider for support.�
�
2.  Please answer the following account knowledge questions:�
�
Please verify you are the owner of the data within the domain by answering all of the 
questions to the best of your knowledge, specifying a single answer to each one. If you 
are uncertain about some of the answers, it is a good idea to check the inbox of the 
personal email address you have specified while registering the Google Workspace 
account, or the bank that manages the payment method you're using.�

�� - What is the username (username@domain.com) of the Super Administrator 

account you are trying to access?�

�� - When did you last sign in to this Super Administrator account 

(MM/DD/YYYY)?�

�� - What is the original secondary/recovery email address?�

�� - Why are you unable to access this secondary/recovery email address?�

�� - How many users are on your Google Workspace account?�

If you paid with a credit/debit card:�

�� - When was the last charge for this Google Workspace account 

(MM/DD/YYYY)?�

�� - How much was your credit/debit card charged?�

�� - What type of credit/debit card was charged (e.g. MasterCard, Visa)?�

�� - What are the last four digits of this card?�
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�� - What is the expiration date of this card?�

	� - What is the billing address associated with this card?�


� - If you made the transaction through Google Wallet, what is the order number?�

If you paid by bank transfer:�

�� - What is the date of the most recent invoice (MM/DD/YYYY)?�

�� - How much was your most recent bank transfer?�

�� - What is the reference number for this transfer?�

�� - What are the last four digits of this bank account?�

�� - What is the billing address associated with this bank account?�

If you paid by PayPal:�

�� - When was the last charge for this Google Workspace account 

(MM/DD/YYYY)?�

�� - How much was your PayPal account charged?�

�� - What email is associated with the Paypal account used to pay?�

�� - What is the ID of your last invoice?�

Once you have replied, I will check your answers to the account knowledge questions. 
After I have verified your ownership of secure-democracy.org, we will be able to confirm 
Google Workspace account ownership.�
�
I appreciate your patience and your understanding regarding our commitment to 
account security. If you have any further case related questions, please feel free to 
contact me by responding to the email and I will be happy to assist you further.�
�
Regards,�
�
Kubra�
Google Workspace Support�

��
�����
������������� ��������
�
 

  

�

� ������������������	��� ! "#�$#�%$���&%�'(%)*�� ���$%���+��(*�� �,�����

��
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Our 
Leadership
Our leadership team has decades of experience in 

advancing policy solutions at the local, state, and 

federal level. Secure Democracy staff and in-state 

lobbyists work across the country to craft 

advocacy strategies that benefit all Americans by 

making our elections free, fair, and trustworthy.

Sarah Walker

Executive Director

Sarah Walker, a 
veteran election policy 
specialist, oversees all 
of Secure Democracy’s 
state and federal 
legislative work and 
partnership 
management. Prior to 
joining Secure 
Democracy, Sarah 
served in state 
government and held 
various roles in 
government relations.

As an expert on voting 
and elections 
legislative issues, 
Sarah Walker 
frequently speaks to 
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the media as a resource 
of information and 
spokesperson for 
Secure Democracy. 
Sarah has been quoted 
in The New York 
Times, USA Today, 
Politico, The Hill, 
Business Insider, the 
Dallas Morning News, 
the Houston Chronicle, 
the Atlanta Journal-
Constitution, the 
Tampa Bay Times, the 
Louisville Courier-
Journal, the Center for 
Public Integrity, The 
Fulcrum, and 
numerous other 
national and local 
outlets.

Kay Cook

Regional Director

Kay Cook brings 
legislative leaders and 
advocates together to 
build trust in our 
elections and protect 
voter access, with an 
emphasis in Georgia, 
Florida, Montana, 
North Carolina, 
Pennsylvania, and 
Texas.

Diego Echeverri

Regional Director

Diego Echeverri brings 
legislative leaders and 
advocates together to 
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build trust in our 
elections and protect 
voter access, with an 
emphasis in Alabama, 
Mississippi, New 
Hampshire, West 
Virginia, and 
Wisconsin.

Maya Ingram

Regional Director

Maya Ingram brings 
legislative leaders and 
advocates together to 
build trust in our 
elections and protect 
voter access, with an 
emphasis in Iowa, 
Michigan, Missouri, 
Nebraska, New York, 
and Oregon.

Charley Olena

Regional Director

Charley Olena brings 
legislative leaders and 
advocates together to 
build trust in our 
elections and protect 
voter access, with an 
emphasis in Alaska, 
Arizona, Connecticut, 
Kentucky, Ohio, and 
Washington.
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Our 
Leadership
Our leadership team has decades of

experience in advancing policy solutions

at the local, state, and federal level. Secure

Democracy staff and in-state lobbyists

work across the country to craft advocacy

strategies that benefit all Americans by

making our elections free, fair, and

trustworthy.

Kay Cook

Senior Director of

Advocacy

Kay Cook brings

legislative leaders

and advocates

together to build

trust in our

elections and

protect voter

access, with an

emphasis in

Georgia, Florida,

Montana, North

Carolina,

Pennsylvania, and

Texas.
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Diego Echeverri

Director of

Advocacy

Diego Echeverri

brings legislative

leaders and

advocates together

to build trust in our

elections and

protect voter

access, with an

emphasis in

Alabama,

Mississippi, New

Hampshire, West

Virginia, and

Wisconsin.

Maya Ingram

Director of

Advocacy

Maya Ingram

brings legislative

leaders and

advocates together

to build trust in our

elections and

protect voter

access, with an

emphasis in Iowa,

Michigan, Missouri,

Nebraska, New

York, and Oregon.

Charley Olena

Director of

Advocacy
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Charley Olena

brings legislative

leaders and

advocates together

to build trust in our

elections and

protect voter

access, with an

emphasis in

Alaska, Arizona,

Connecticut,

Kentucky, Ohio, and

Washington.

Jay Riestenberg

Director of

Communications

Jay Riestenberg

creates strategic

communications

programs to

support Secure

Democracy’s

advocacy work and

improve our

elections for all

Americans, with a

focus on message

development,

media outreach,

and content

creation.

Will Soltero

Communications

Associate

Will Soltero

implements and

supports strategic

communications
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Want to get in touch? Use this form to contact

us.

programs

underpinning

Secure Democracy’s

advocacy work to

improve our

elections for all

Americans, with a

focus on messaging

landscape analysis,

content creation,

and partner

coordination.
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